

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

Improving Student Nurse Clinical Reasoning, Critical Thinking, and Clinical Judgment Through Simulation Debriefing

Deborah Brester Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Nursing Commons, and the Public Health Education and Promotion Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Nursing

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Deborah A. Brester

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Leslie Hussey, Committee Chairperson, Nursing Faculty Dr. M Terese Verklan, Committee Member, Nursing Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2023

Abstract

Improving Student Nurse Clinical Reasoning, Critical Thinking, and Clinical Judgment

Through Simulation Debriefing

by

Deborah A. Brester

MSN, Methodist University, 2014

BSN, Midland University, 2012

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Nursing

Walden University

August 2023

Abstract

Simulation is an educational strategy in nursing education that incorporates structured activities that depict real-life situations to develop and enhance the knowledge, skills, and attitudes of nursing students by allowing them to analyze and initiate interventions for realistic situations in a simulated environment. Debriefing is a reflective process and is a key component in the simulation education process, but there is a lack of evidence on debriefing methods that enhance learning outcomes in nursing education. This study, which was guided by the National League for Nursing Jeffries simulation theory, was to determine the effect simulation debriefing, as assessed using the National Council of State Boards of Nursing clinical judgment measurement model framework, had on the clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment of nursing students enrolled in a bachelor of science in nursing (BSN) program. A sample of 40 undergraduate BSN nursing students participated. Data were collected through a pretest and a posttest and were analyzed with a paired samples *t*-test. The analysis indicated a significant difference in participant scores in clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment between the pretest and posttest after debriefing using the clinical judgment measurement model framework (p < 0.001) with a large Cohen's d = 1.116. Recommendations for future research include studying nursing students in associate and master's degree programs and conducting a pretest–posttest control group design. The findings of this study could lead to positive social change by educating the next generation of nurses with effective simulation and debriefing techniques that lead to improved clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment and improve patient outcomes.

Improving Student Nurse Clinical Reasoning, Critical Thinking, and Clinical Judgment

Through Simulation Debriefing

by

Deborah A. Brester

MSN, Methodist University, 2014

BSN, Midland University, 2012

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Nursing

Walden University

August 2023

Dedication

I would like to dedicate this dissertation to my wonderful family, who helped me through this process—not only in the past but ongoing throughout. Therefore, I dedicate this dissertation to my parents, Betty and Stanley, for being essential to my education as I grew up, and to my husband, Gary, who supported me along this journey. In addition, I am also dedicating this to my children, Derek, Breanne, and Jordyn, because you can do anything you set your mind to.

Acknowledgments

I would like to acknowledge my dissertation chair, Dr. Leslie Hussey. Her support and guidance was an inspiration to me throughout my journey towards my PhD! She provided me with encouragement and the necessary appraisal and critique to complete the dissertation process from the beginning to the end. I would also like to acknowledge my committee member, Dr. M. Terese Verklan. Her thoughtful and explorative inquiry throughout the dissertation process provided additional academic guidance and support. I would also like to acknowledge all those at Walden University that are too numerous to mention and contributed to the successful completion of this dissertation. Additionally, I would like to acknowledge my colleagues and my family that supported me throughout this process. Finally, thank you Lord Jesus, for helping me, guiding me, and making this possible.

List of Tables	v
List of Figures	vi
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Introduction	1
Background	2
Problem Statement	5
Purpose of the Study	7
Research Question and Hypotheses	7
Theoretical Foundation	8
Nature of the Study	9
Definitions	11
Assumptions	12
Scope and Delimitations	13
Limitations	15
Significance	15
Summary and Transition	17
Chapter 2: Literature Review	18
Introduction	18
Literature Search Strategy	20
Theoretical Foundation	21
Simulation Model	21

Table of Contents

Nursing Education Simulation Framework	24
NLN Jeffries Simulation Theory	25
Literature Review Related to Key Variables and/or Concepts	28
Simulation	28
Debriefing	28
NCSBN Clinical Judgment Measurement Model Debriefing Framework	34
Summary and Conclusions	34
Chapter 3: Research Method	38
Introduction	38
Research Design and Rationale	38
Methodology	39
Population	39
Sampling and Sampling Procedures	40
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	41
Intervention	43
Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs	44
Intervention Studies or Those Involving Manipulation of an Independent	
Variable	47
Data Analysis Plan	49
Threats to Validity	51
External Validity	51
Internal Validity	52

Construct Validity	
Ethical Procedures	55
Summary	
Chapter 4: Results	59
Introduction	59
Data Collection	
Intervention Fidelity	63
Results	63
Additional Findings	69
Summary	72
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	74
Introduction	74
Interpretation of the Findings	75
Limitations of the Study	77
Recommendations	
Implications	
Positive Social Change	
For Practice	
Conclusions	
References	
Appendix A: Second Iteration of the Simulation Model of the NLN Jeffries	
Simulation Framework Permission	

Appendix B: NLN Jeffries Simulation Theory Figure Permission	101
Appendix C: Sociodemographic Questionnaire	103
Appendix D: LCJR Permission	104
Appendix E: CREST Permission	114
Appendix F: CTD Permission	124
Appendix G: NCSBN Clinical Judgment Measurement Model Script	130
Appendix H: Critical Thinking Diagnostic	132
Appendix I: Lasater's Clinical Judgment Rubric	133
Appendix J: Clinical Reasoning Evaluation Simulation Tool	137
Appendix K: Stroke Simulation Script	142
Appendix L: Heart Failure Script	146

Table 1. Gender	60
Table 2. Ethnic Group Identification	61
Table 3. Marital Status	61
Table 4. Highest Education Completed	61
Table 5. Current or Previous Healthcare Experience	62
Table 6. Test of Normality	66
Table 7. Difference of Posttest from Pretest Scores of Clinical Reasoning, Critical	
Thinking, and Clinical Judgment	67
Table 8. Pretest/Posttest Paired Samples Statistics	67
Table 9. Pretest/Posttest Paired Samples Test	68
Table 10. Pretest/Posttest Paired Samples Effect Sizes	68
Table 11. Clinical Reasoning (CREST) Paired Samples Statistics	69
Table 12. Clinical Reasoning (CREST) Paired Samples Test	70
Table 13. Critical Thinking (CTD) Paired Samples Statistics	70
Table 14. Critical Thinking (CTD) Paired Samples Test	71
Table 15. Clinical Judgment (LCJR) Paired Samples Statistics	71
Table 16. Clinical Judgment (LCJR) Paired Samples Test	. 72

List of Tables

List of Figures

Figure 1. Second Iteration of the Simulation Model of the NLN Jeffries Simulation	
Framework	22
Figure 2. NLN Jeffries Simulation Theory	26
Figure 3. Boxplot of Pretest-Posttest Clinical Reasoning, Critical Thinking, and Clin	ical
Judgment Difference Scores	65
Figure 4. Distribution Histogram	66

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Introduction

Simulation is an educational strategy that incorporates structured activities that depict real-life situations to develop and enhance the knowledge, skills, and attitudes of individuals by allowing them to analyze and initiate interventions for realistic situations in a simulated environment (International Nursing Association of Clinical and Simulation Learning [INACSL] Standards Committee, 2016c). The National Council of State Boards of Nursing (NCSBN) national simulation study found similar educational outcomes are achieved when up to half of traditional clinical hours are replaced with simulated learning experiences; therefore, high-quality simulation has become an integral part of nursing education (Hayden et al., 2014). Another important aspect of simulation is debriefing, which is a reflective process that follows the simulated experience and is led by a trained facilitator who uses a structured framework for the debriefing process (INACSL Standards Committee, 2016c).

Debriefing leads to an enhanced simulation process and is a key component in simulation education (INACSL Standards Committee, 2016). INACSL identified debriefing as a key component in the simulation education process, but there is a lack of evidence on a debriefing method that enhances learning outcomes in nursing education (Lee, et al., 2020). Therefore, the purpose of my study was to assess the effects of simulation debriefing on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment in nursing students and to advance research in the area of debriefing methods that enhance student learning in nursing education by applying the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model as a conceptual framework in the debriefing process.

Educating the next generation of nurses is important in positive social change. Specifically, the findings of this study can lead to positive social change through improvement in social and human conditions within local communities and throughout the world by enhancing the pedagogy of nursing education. My study results also provided a better understanding of the effects the simulation debriefing process has on student nurses' transition to practice. Chapter 1 includes the background, problem statement, purpose, research question, hypotheses, theoretical foundation, nature of the study, definitions, assumptions, scope and delimitations, limitations, and the significance of the study.

Background

Traditional nursing education includes classroom instruction, along with clinical hours in which a student develops skills and critical thinking in a traditional clinical environment, such as a hospital setting, by interacting with and caring for patients under the supervision of a clinical instructor (Hayden et al., 2014). As nursing education evolves, and as traditional clinical hours in a hospital setting become more challenging to obtain due to limited clinical sites, decreasing numbers of students allowed on patient care units, faculty shortages, or restricted access to high-quality clinical experiences, there is an ongoing need to find additional innovative ways to prepare students (Hayden et al., 2014). Therefore, clinical hours are being replaced with simulated learning experiences, a technique that recreates real-life situations and allows for active

participation in guided simulated experiences (Gaba, 2004; INACSL Standards Committee, 2016d).

In nursing education, simulation is an educational strategy that facilitates students' learning and practice by allowing students to assess, plan, implement, and evaluate patient care while being immersed in a clinical environment that is safe and realistic (Arthur et al., 2013). Each simulated learning experience includes measurable objectives and outcomes, a structured format, and a realistic scenario. Further, the experience begins with prebriefing, and is followed by debriefing, and preparation materials to promote achievement of the objectives and outcomes of the simulated learning experience (INACSL Standards Committee, 2016a).

To develop the skills of a nurse, a complex interrelated process that progresses from basic psychomotor and problem-solving skills to higher-level clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment is necessary for decision making and safe and effective practice are developed (INACSL Standards Committee, 2016c). Psychomotor skills involve the ability to perform consistently and proficiently the skills required for professional nursing practice (INACSL Standards Committee, 2016c). Problem solving in professional nursing practice involves the process of focusing selectively on pertinent patient information to formulate a solution that manages the current patient situation (INACSL Standards Committee, 2016c).

In many instances clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment may be used interchangeably, but there are differences. Clinical reasoning and critical thinking lead to, and result in, the formation of clinical judgment (Alfaro-LeFevre, 2017). Critical thinking is the process of problem solving, analyzing the available data, making decisions based on the evidence and scientific principles (Alfaro-LeFevre, 2017; INACSL Standards Committee, 2016c). Clinical reasoning is the process that goes one-step further and incorporates both thought formation and reflection in order to collect and comprehend patient information while employing previous knowledge, skills, and attitudes in order to analyze the current situation and draw a conclusion and potential alternative actions (INACSL Standards Committee, 2016c). Clinical judgment combines critical thinking and decision-making skills through the recognition of relevant changes in a patient's clinical condition and then appropriately interpreting, responding, and reflecting on the effectiveness of the interventions employed to establish alternative action as needed (Betts et al., 2019; INACSL Standards Committee, 2016c).

A structured conceptual framework is used to facilitate the debriefing process in the simulated learning experience (INACSL Standards Committee, 2016). While a common conceptual framework used for debriefing is the nursing process framework, other frameworks used include "GAS (gather, analyze, summarize), Debriefing with Good Judgment, Promoting Excellence and Reflective Learning in Simulation (PEARLS), Debriefing for Meaningful Learning (DML), Plus-Delta, 3D Model of Debriefing, OPT Model of Clinical Reasoning" (INACSL Standards Committee, 2016, p. S23), and Tanner's model of clinical judgment (Dreifuerst, 2009; Tanner, 2006). As noted by INACSL, frameworks appropriate for debriefing will continue to be created in the future (INACSL Standards Committee, 2016). One such framework recently developed to assess clinical judgment in NCSBN's newest National Council Licensure Examination (NCLEX) for registered nurses (RNs) is the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework.

Simulation debriefing is a self-reflection process that follows a conceptual framework and is led by a trained facilitator. The facilitator assists in the conscious reflection of actions and/or inactions, which combines with preexisting knowledge to promote a new understanding that supports the transfer of knowledge, skills, and attitudes for future situations and fosters professional role attainment and safe, quality patient care (INACSL Standards Committee, 2016, 2016d). Due to the lack of research on the debriefing process and what debriefing practices are deemed best practice, I assessed the effect of simulation debriefing on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment in nursing students using the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework for simulation debriefing in the simulated learning experience.

Problem Statement

Throughout the history of nursing education, 100% of the clinical hours have traditionally consisted of observational activities, interacting with and caring for patients, and/or interacting with the interdisciplinary team under the supervision of a clinical instructor. In 2014, the results of the NCSBN's national simulation study indicated no significant differences in the educational outcomes of students' knowledge, competency, and critical thinking when up to 50% of traditional clinical experiences in the undergraduate nursing program are replaced with simulated learning experiences (Hayden et al., 2014). The national simulation study's recommendations have also led to expanding the use of simulation in nursing education (Rutherford-Hemming et al., 2016). Therefore, as nurses are educated and prepared with the latest teaching pedagogies, clinical reasoning, critical thinking, clinical judgment, problem solving, and psychomotor skills are enhanced by simulation debriefing (Shinnick et al., 2011). Furthermore, with the ongoing transition to assess and emphasize clinical judgment by the NCSBN's newest NCLEX for RNs, the simulation debriefing process needs to be an important piece in facilitating clinical judgment in nursing students (Bristol, 2019).

Simulation debriefing best practices include the qualities of reflection, emotion, reception, integration, assimilation, and accommodation that integrate through a conceptual framework in order to facilitate knowledge, skills, and attitudes; however, a conceptual framework is not always applied in the simulation debriefing process (Dreifuerst, 2009). As noted previously, there are several conceptual frameworks being used for the debriefing process, and the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model has been brought to the forefront as a potential debriefing process and technique to further clinical judgment as nursing transitions to NCSBN's newest NCLEX for RNs (Hensel & Billings, 2020; NCSBN, 2019).

Additionally, Waznonis (2015) indicated that the debriefing methods currently used in traditional baccalaureate nursing education might not be evidence based or understood throughout nursing education because a large proportion of these programs do not currently use any particular structured debriefing process. Furthermore, while the literature indicates debriefing is one of the most important parts of simulation and that debriefing is a critical component for learning, there is a lack of research on the debriefing phase and specific debriefing processes considered to be best practices (Alhaj & Musallam, 2018; Hall & Tori, 2017; Hines & Wood, 2016; Palaganas et al., 2016; Rutherford-Hemming et al., 2016; Shinnick et al., 2011). Additionally, as noted by Dreifuerst (2009) and Dufrene and Young (2014), there is an ongoing need to research student learning and outcomes facilitated by different methods of debriefing. Therefore, I identified a need to research the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model conceptual framework as a debriefing process and assess the framework's effect on the student learning outcomes of clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment in nursing education.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of my study was to determine the effect simulation debriefing, as assessed by using the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework, has on the clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment of nursing students. To address the literature gap, I conducted a one-group pretest posttest quasi-experimental study.

Research Question and Hypotheses

RQ: What effect does simulation debriefing, as assessed by using the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework, have on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment of bachelor of science in nursing (BSN) nursing students?

 H_0 1: There is no difference in the effect of simulation debriefing, as assessed by using the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework, on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment of BSN nursing students.

 H_A 1: There is a difference in the effect of simulation debriefing, as assessed by using the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework, on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment of BSN nursing students.

The student-learning outcomes of clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment in nursing students were assessed by a pretest and posttest using the clinical reasoning evaluation simulation tool (CREST), the critical thinking diagnostic (CTD), and the Lasater clinical judgment rubric (LCJR).

Theoretical Foundation

The theoretical basis for my study was the National League for Nursing (NLN) Jeffries simulation theory, which aligns with the purpose of determining if a simulation debriefing process that integrates the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework has an effect on student-learning outcomes. The NLN Jeffries simulation theory provides the basis to inform practice in the study of the simulation phenomenon and to contribute to the science of nursing education (NLN, 2016). As a middle-range theory, the NLN Jeffries simulation theory supports the basis for studies related to best practices, outcomes, and systems change within the phenomenon of simulation (NLN, 2016). The NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model is defined as a framework that supports the development of a student's clinical reasoning, critical thinking, clinical judgment, and clinical decision making through the steps of recognizing cues, analyzing cues, prioritizing hypotheses, generating solutions, taking action, and evaluating outcomes (Hensel & Billings, 2020). Additionally, the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model is used as a guide to lead students through the cognitive steps of developing clinical judgment skills and can be used to guide discussions and teach clinical judgment through clinical scenarios, case studies, and simulations (Dickison et al., 2019; Hensel & Billings, 2020). The components that form the NLN Jeffries simulation theory include the context, the setting, or location of the simulation, as well as the background and design of the simulation. Next, the simulation experience is formed by the dynamic interaction of the facilitator, educational strategies, and the participant that is surrounded by an experiential, interactive, collaborative, learner centered, and trusting environment. These variables then lead to system, patient, and/or participant outcomes (NLN, 2016). Therefore, the NLN Jeffries simulation theory matched with my research project because the integration of the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework for debriefing is an educational strategy that nurse educators can use to educate students and influence student learning outcomes. More details on the NLN Jeffries simulation theory are provided in Chapter 2.

Nature of the Study

I sought to determine the effect of the simulation debriefing intervention, the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework, on BSN nursing student outcomes of clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment. The independent variable was the debriefing process using the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework. The dependent variables or outcomes were clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment in BSN nursing students. One group of BSN nursing students, at the junior and senior level, were available for my study and data were collected before and after the debriefing intervention on the group. Based on my research question, the study variables, and the availability of one group of BSN nursing students, a quasi-experimental, single-group, pretest–posttest design was the appropriate design for the study (see LoBiondo-Wood & Haber, 2014).

My research question and hypotheses included one independent variable and one dependent variable that combined clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment. Because there was one independent variable and one dependent outcome variable related to learning, I evaluated the data with a paired-samples t-test. A paired samples t-test allowed me to compare the mean scores on a single-group of BSN nursing students to determine if there was a statistically significant difference in the mean scores from pretest to posttest (see Pallant, 2016). I collected quantitative data on one group of BSN students before and after the simulation debriefing intervention by using the CTD, the LCJR, and the CREST.

The CTD was designed to assess critical thinking in the five categorical areas of (a) problem recognition, (b) clinical decision making, (c) prioritization, (e) clinical implementation, and (f) reflection on a six-point Likert scale, with 1 = strongly disagree to 6 = strongly agree. There is a maximum of 30 points for each category and 150 total points for the CTD (Berkow et al., 2011; Bittner et al., 2020; Turkel et al., 2016). The reliability of the CTD was demonstrated with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.976 for all categorical areas and with 0.910 for problem recognition, 0.0882 for clinical decision making, 0.932 for prioritization, 0.919 for clinical implementation, and 0.922 for reflection (Berkow et al., 2011).

The LCJR was designed to assess clinical judgment on 11 behaviors from beginning to exemplary with the *beginning* level earning 1 point, *developing* earning 2 points, *accomplished* earning 3 points, and *exemplary* earning 4 points on each behavior. Overall nursing clinical judgment is measured using a range of 0 to 44 points with clinical judgment at the beginning level scoring 0–11, developing 12–22, accomplished 23–33, and exemplary 34–44 (Miraglia & Asselin, 2015). The reliability of the tool was demonstrated with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.974 (Adamson & Kardong-Edgren, 2012).

The CREST was designed to assess clinical reasoning on 10 items of clinical reasoning on a five-point Likert scale. The minimum score is 10 and the maximum score is 50. The reliability of the tool was demonstrated with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.92; 95% confidence interval 0.86–0.95 (Liaw et al., 2018).

Definitions

Bachelor of science in nursing (BSN) students: Nursing students enrolled in a prelicensure RN program, primarily in a university setting that emphasizes liberal arts or advanced sciences. The nursing coursework typically requires 4 years of training and upon graduation allows the graduate to take the NCLEX for RNs (Institute of Medicine Committee on the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation on the Future of Nursing, 2011; Lipsky et al., 2019).

Clinical judgment: A cognitive process of interpreting and forming conclusions related to the needs, concerns, and health problems of patients while deciding whether or not to take a standard action or to use a new method based on the response of the patient (Tanner, 2006). Additionally, previous experiences help to develop one's clinical

judgment by using the process of critical thinking to facilitate a successful outcome related to a patient problem (INACSL Standards Committee, 2016c).

Clinical reasoning: A process of gathering and processing clinical cues and information in order to recognize a patient's condition to plan for and implement interventions, evaluate the results, and then move forward through thoughtful reflection to form new understandings and knowledge from the process. An effective clinical reasoning process will employ collecting the correct cues to take the right action at the right time for the right reason and on the right patient (Levett-Jones et al., 2010).

Critical thinking: Employing the combined personal practices and processes of thinking and reasoning to analyze problems, make judgments, come to conclusions, and take action (or an alternative action) in order to make the best clinical decision in solving a clinical problem and leading to the best patient outcome for the situation (Brunt, 2005; Facione, 1990; Lee et al., 2017; Shin et al., 2006).

Simulation debriefing: A process of reflection that follows a simulated learning experience and is led by a trained facilitator using a theoretical framework to facilitate the promotion of new understanding and the transfer of knowledge, skills, and attitudes in order to provide safe, quality patient care in future situations (INACSL Standards Committee, 2016, 2016d).

Assumptions

An assumption of my study was that BSN nursing students desire to have effective high-quality skills in clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment. Consequently, these learned skills will improve the quality of nursing practice by improving a student's ability to act. An additional assumption was that BSN nursing students desire to graduate with all the necessary qualifications and skill sets to allow them to meet the diverse health care needs of the population and that will lead to the provision of safe and effective patient care (Sommers, 2018). These assumptions further implied that clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment improve the quality of nursing practice (Riddell, 2007).

Scope and Delimitations

The focus of my study was chosen due to the upcoming transition of the NCSBN's Next Generation NCLEX (NGN) examination that will assess graduate nurses' clinical judgment through questions that evaluate the knowledge, skills, and abilities needed to support critical thinking and clinical reasoning and therefore lead to successful outcomes while providing care (NCSBN, 2017). The inclusion criteria were nursing students in one BSN undergraduate nursing program who were junior and senior level students in medical–surgical nursing courses that included a high-fidelity simulation scenario. I excluded diploma and associate degree nursing students, accelerated BSN students, students who had a completed degree such as RN to BSN students, students not in the previously mentioned nursing courses, and students retaking a nursing course or a nursing course without high fidelity simulation scenario. The selection effects of the population may affect external validity and generalizability of the study's findings due to the population's exclusion criteria.

Because the purpose of the research was to determine what affect the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework has on clinical reasoning, critical

thinking, and clinical judgment when used in the simulation debriefing process, an experimental or quasi-experimental research design was appropriate. Due to the potential for a limited number of nursing students in the study's population group, I did not choose to conduct a randomized control trial or a true experimental design. Instead, I chose a quantitative quasi-experimental, single-group, pretest-posttest design due to the limited number of potential participants available in the population group. Because I did not use a control group or randomization, there is a threat to internal validity (see LoBiondo-Wood & Haber, 2014). Additionally, generalizability and external validity of the study may have been affected due to the Hawthorne effect, pretest sensitization, and posttest sensitization. With the Hawthorne effect, participants may perform at a higher level and lead to better outcomes because they know they are in a study and there is added attention. With a pretest, the study's population are alerted to the subject content of the study and therefore have a higher sensitization to the debriefing topics, which may then affect the posttest at a higher rate than it would have otherwise (see LoBiondo-Wood & Haber, 2014).

The theories and theoretical frameworks I reviewed for consideration were Benner's novice-to-expert theory, Tanner's clinical judgment model, Kolb's experiential learning theory, Lasater's clinical judgment model, and debriefing for meaningful learning. While each of these frameworks or theories addresses specific aspects of learning in nursing education, the NLN Jeffries simulation theory is focused more specifically on guiding research that will inform the practice into the study of simulation and contribute to the science of nursing education (NLN, 2016). Because my main focus was to assess clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment after simulation debriefing using the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model, the NLN Jeffries simulation theory was appropriate to use as a theoretical basis for my study.

Limitations

With a quasi-experimental, single-group pretest-posttest design, the data were collected on one group of subjects before and after the experimental treatment, which did not allow for a control group or randomization (see LoBiondo-Wood & Haber, 2014). Therefore, these internal validity limitations were considered when interpreting the findings of the study (see LoBiondo-Wood & Haber, 2014). Additionally, confounding variables had the potential to affect the findings of my study, but I could not randomly assign participants into a treatment or control group (Harris et al., 2006). Potential confounding variables include student participant demographics, such as age, sex, race, marital status, traditional or nontraditional student, full-time or part-time student, current employment (part time or full time), and previous college history, such as a previous degree in another field or current licensure as a licensed practical nurse (LPN). Therefore, these potential confounding variables may have affected the results, which could conceal a true cause-and-effect relationship.

Significance

NLN's (2016) education research priorities include "build[ing] the science of nursing education through the discovery and translation of innovative evidence-based strategies" (p. 2). Nurses must be educated and prepared with the latest teaching pedagogies that improve clinical reasoning, critical thinking, clinical judgment, problem solving, and psychomotor skills to affect a positive transition to practice (Dreifuerst, 2009). Simulation debriefing that uses the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework is one educational practice that has the potential to build the science of nursing education while improving the pedagogy of undergraduate nursing education, promoting student learning, and improving the transition to practice (Shinnick et al., 2011).

A best practice standard for simulation debriefing defined by the INACSL is for the simulation debriefing process to follow a structured framework (INACSL Standards Committee, 2016; Waznonis, 2015). Therefore, to address the gap in literature related to best practices for the debriefing processes, I sought to determine the effect that a simulation debriefing process using the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework has on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment among BSN nursing students.

The findings of my study contribute to positive social change because clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment strengthen student nurses' ability to make patient-centered decisions in a timely and effective manner (see Koharchik et al., 2015). Therefore, if the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework for simulation debriefing strengthens these critical nursing skills, its use will lead to improved clinical reasoning and allow student and future nurses to recognize patient indicators, prioritize care, act promptly, and evaluate outcomes in order to recognize and act on a patient condition before the patient's condition deteriorates significantly (Bristol, 2019). Therefore, with the positive social change of improved patient outcomes, a

debriefing best practice for student nurses could be established that has the potential to influence patient care outcomes positively, now and in the future, as student nurses transition to practice as RNs.

Summary and Transition

With the NCSBN's transition that emphasizes clinical judgment in the Next Generation NCLEX, there is an ongoing need to assess and facilitate student learning in nursing education. Because evidence is lacking on simulation debriefing methods and their effect on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment in nursing education, I sought to determine the effects a specific simulation debriefing method had on student learning. The simulation debriefing intervention is a conceptual framework based on the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model. I assessed clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment before and after the debriefing intervention in one group of BSN nursing students. The quantitative data were attained through the CREST to assess clinical reasoning, the CTD to assess critical thinking, and the LCJR to assess clinical judgment in BSN nursing students. I also addressed the gap in literature related to best practice debriefing processes and the impact that a conceptual framework based off the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model has on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment. In Chapter 2, I will describe and summarize previous literature related to simulation and debriefing in nursing education and provide the theoretical foundation, key variables, and concepts used to perform my study.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Introduction

Simulation in nursing education continues to advance since the landmark study by the NCSBN, which found no significant difference in educational outcomes of a students' knowledge, competency, and critical thinking when up to 50% of the student's traditional clinical experiences were replaced with simulation (Hayden et al., 2014; Rutherford-Hemming et al., 2016). The national simulation study's recommendations have also led to expanding the use of simulation in nursing education (Rutherford-Hemming et al., 2016). Additionally, the INACSL standards of best practice for simulation provide an evidence-based framework for guiding simulation's design, implementation, debriefing, evaluation, and research (INACSL Standards Committee, 2016b). These standards lay the groundwork for evidence-based practice in healthcare education, practice, and research (INACSL Standards Committee, 2016b).

Although the literature indicates debriefing after simulation is a critical component for learning to occur and that incorporating a debriefing session after a simulation scenario is best practice, there continues to be a lack of research on the debriefing phase and what debriefing processes are deemed as best practice (Alhaj & Musallam, 2018; Hall & Tori, 2017; Hines & Wood, 2016; Palaganas et al., 2016; Rutherford-Hemming et al., 2016; Shinnick et al., 2011). Furthermore, with the ongoing transition to assess and emphasize clinical judgment by the NCSBN's newest NCLEX for RNs, the simulation debriefing process is becoming an important piece in facilitating clinical judgment in nursing students (Bristol, 2019). Therefore, nurses must be educated

and prepared with the latest teaching pedagogies that improve clinical reasoning, critical thinking, clinical judgment, problem solving, and psychomotor skills, with simulation debriefing playing an important part of student nursing education.

It is important to understand a few details related to the debriefing process, such as the attributes of debriefing and a conceptual framework, because these make up and identify the debriefing process. Reflection, emotion, reception, integration, and assimilation define the attributes of the debriefing process, which is facilitated through guided reflection embedded in a conceptual framework. The most common framework in nursing is the nursing process framework (Dreifuerst, 2009). Other conceptual frameworks identified in nursing include Tanner's (2006) model of clinical judgment and the NCSBN (2019) clinical judgment measurement model.

The nursing process framework includes assessment, analysis, planning, implementing, and evaluation (Dreifuerst, 2009; Tanner, 2006). Tanner's (2006) model of clinical judgment includes the components of noticing, interpreting, responding, and reflection in action and reflection on action. The NCSBN (2019) clinical judgment measurement model includes recognition of cues, analyzing the cues, prioritizing a hypothesis, generating a solution(s), taking action, and evaluating the outcomes. These models/frameworks have in common that they develop clinical reasoning and facilitate clinical judgment (Dreifuerst, 2009; NCSBN, 2019; Tanner, 2006). As noted by Dreifuerst (2009), guided reflection, embedded in a conceptual framework, is frequently not done in the debriefing process. Due to the lack of research on the debriefing process and debriefing best practices, my study was focused on the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model as a conceptual framework for debriefing. The purpose of my study was to determine the effect simulation debriefing, as assessed by using the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework, has on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment of nursing students compared to the clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment of nursing students who do not receive simulation debriefing through the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework. Chapter 2 includes the literature search strategy, a review of the theoretical foundation as well as the literature review of simulation debriefing and assessment tools used to assess clinical judgment and critical thinking.

Literature Search Strategy

I conducted a literature search using the following electronic nursing databases: CINAHL Plus with Full Text, MEDLINE with Full Text, ProQuest Nursing & Allied Health Source, and PubMed. The key search terms included *simulation, debriefing, simulation debriefing, nursing education, simulation in nursing education,* and *debriefing in nursing education.* Selected articles were related to simulation debriefing, the effect of debriefing on learning and clinical judgment, and tools that evaluate clinical performance. The scope of the literature review included peer-reviewed scholarly journals with research articles that were full text in the English language and published between 2010 and 2020. In addition, the book that references the theoretical framework was also included.

Theoretical Foundation

In 2003, the Laerdal Medical Corporation and the NLN funded a project to test models promoting student learning in nursing education using the pedagogical practice of simulation. Because simulation in nursing education was in its early stages of development at that time, no theoretical framework existed. Therefore, the Laerdal and NLN project director, Pamela Jeffries, along with the rest of the team, initiated the development of a simulation framework for nursing education (NLN, 2016).

Simulation Model

The original theoretical framework, the *simulation model* of the NLN Jeffries simulation framework, was guided by a literature review. The framework was used to guide the design, implementation, and evaluation of simulations in nursing education (Jeffries, 2005; NLN, 2016). Furthermore, a framework is needed to guide in the simulation design and implementation and to assess outcomes in nursing education; it also is needed to specify pertinent variables and how they relate to each other to conduct research in an organized and methodical manner (Jeffries, 2005).

In 2005, Jeffries provided a detailed description of the modified original prototype of the simulation model, as shown in Figure 1. The modified simulation model included five main concepts with associated variables for each concept. Of course, while the modified simulation model framework identified main concepts and variables associated with each concept, not all are relevant to every study (Jeffries, 2005). The main concepts in the modified simulation model include the teacher, the student, educational practices, outcomes, and design characteristics with the simulation intervention. Additionally, the model displays that the learning outcomes are influenced by the simulation design characteristics and interventions when the teacher, student, and educational practices work in coordination with each other. Subsequently, these main concepts, along with the variables associated with the concepts, will be described in further detail (Jeffries, 2005).

Figure 1

Second Iteration of the Simulation Model of the NLN Jeffries Simulation Framework



Source: Adapted from "A Framework for Designing, Implementing, and Evaluating Simulations Used as Teaching Strategies in Nursing", by P. R. Jeffries, 2005, Nurse Education Perspectives, 26(2), p. 97. Reprinted with permission (see Appendix A).

Teacher Concept

The teacher's role in simulation is central to the simulation learning experience. Depending on the purpose of the simulation, the teacher's function will change. During a simulation experience, a teacher mainly functions as a facilitator of student learning, but when the purpose of the simulation is to evaluate student learning, teachers function as observers (Jeffries, 2005).

Student Concept

Within the simulation experience, a student is expected to be autonomous and independently motivated for their own learning. The simulation may involve the student playing a role, such as patient, nurse, or observer. Role playing will allow the student to learn from the different perspectives that each role entails (Jeffries, 2005).

Educational Practices

The simulation model's educational practices are based on Chickering and Gamson's seven principles. These principles include "active learning, prompt feedback, student/faculty interaction, collaborative learning, high expectations, allowing diverse styles for learning, and time on task" (Jeffries, 2005, p. 98).

Design Characteristics and Simulation

Essential to the simulation design is a teaching activity that is suitable to support the goals, skills, and outcomes in the course. As noted in Figure 1, the simulation design includes objectives, fidelity, complexity, cues, and debriefing. The simulation objectives will guide the student learning experience and the attainment of the student outcomes. Effective fidelity will reflect realism of the clinical environment and patient scenario. The simulation scenario can range from very simple to highly complex, with relevant and irrelevant information and/or low or high levels of uncertainty. Cues are implemented during the simulation by faculty or others in order to help the student progress through the simulation. Finally, effective debriefing allows for reflective learning, critical
thinking, and appropriate interventions when faced with complex simulated real life scenarios (Jeffries, 2005).

Outcomes

Learner and course outcomes assessed in nursing education with the simulation model framework are knowledge or learning, performance of skills, learner satisfaction, critical thinking, and self-confidence. Knowledge or learning is measured by retention of knowledge and if the learning outcomes are met. Skill performance allows for procedural skill acquisition and assessment through skill competency check. Learner satisfaction is identified quantitatively or qualitatively through student satisfaction of the simulated learning experience. Critical thinking has been associated with simulated learning experiences, but a student's self-confidence in their critical thinking and problem solving is increased through their improved clinical judgment skills obtained in the simulated learning environment (Jeffries, 2005).

Nursing Education Simulation Framework

In 2007, the third adaptation to the model was presented in Jeffries' book Simulation in Nursing Education: From Conceptualization to Evaluation. The third adaptation altered and clarified one of the five main concepts. The concept of design characteristics and simulation intervention was edited to simulation design characteristics. By refining the simulation design characteristic concept, the variables were then changed to include objectives, fidelity, problem solving, student support, and debriefing. The third adaptation include these minor changes and the name was changed to the NLN Jeffries simulation framework. Then, in 2012, in Jeffries' second edition of *Simulation in Nursing Education: From Conceptualization to Evaluation*, additional changes were made to the framework. The main concepts in the framework were again enhanced and the concept of *teacher* became *facilitator* and *student* became *participant* in the fourth adaptation to the simulation framework (NLN, 2016).

NLN Jeffries Simulation Theory

In 2015, and after the state of the science review, the framework was finally known as the NLN Jeffries simulation theory (Figure 2). The NLN Jeffries simulation theory is used to guide research in the study of the phenomenon of simulation and to contribute to the science of nursing education. As a middle-range theory, the NLN Jeffries simulation theory supports the basis for studies related to best practices, outcomes, and systems change within the phenomenon of simulation (NLN, 2016a). Therefore, I used the NLN Jeffries simulation theory as the organizing structure that supported my study related to simulation debriefing's outcome measure of participant learning.

Figure 2

NLN Jeffries Simulation Theory



Source: Adapted from *The NLN Jeffries Simulation Theory* by P. R. Jeffries, 2016, Wolters Kluwer. Copyright 2016 National League for Nursing. Reprinted with permission. (see Appendix B)

The concepts within the NLN Jeffries simulation theory include the context, background, design, simulation experience, facilitator and educational strategies, the participant, and outcomes. Within the simulation's design, the debriefing strategies are established. Debriefing strategies include the various methods of debriefing such as reflection; oral; video; structured or unstructured debriefing; and/or high, intermediate, or low-level facilitator debriefing involvement. The simulation experience includes interaction between the participant and the facilitator while using educational strategies. Included in the facilitator and education strategies are appropriate feedback, cues, and debriefing near the end of the simulation experience. Finally, the outcomes of the simulation experience or the evaluation piece is separated into three areas: patient, participant, and system outcomes. The participant outcomes included in the evaluation phase of the theory are "reaction (satisfaction, self-confidence), learning (changes in knowledge, skills, attitudes), and behavior (how learning transfers to the clinical environment)" (NLN, 2016a).

While the research on simulation is still in the early stages of development, the NLN Jeffries simulation theory supports the informative practice related to knowledge, outcomes, simulation, and simulated educational practices. Additionally, the NLN Jeffries simulation theory includes the concepts of context, background, simulation design, simulation experience, facilitator and educational strategies, the participant, and outcomes (NLN, 2016a). Therefore, this theory has the potential to guide a variety of studies in the area of simulation. Jarvill et al. (2018) used the NLN Jeffries simulation theory to guide research on a simulated intervention for medication administration competence. Farra and Smith (2019) used the theory to guide the participant experiences related to anxiety and stress in a live disaster exercise, because anxiety affects the simulation learning experience of the participants. Graham et al. (2018) used the framework supporting the study to determine if participant attributes and demographics such as the race of students and manikins influence the outcome and experiences of simulation.

As noted by NLN (2016a), "the challenge is now to test and use this theory to guide research in studying the simulation phenomena and contribute to the science of nursing education" (p. 52). While all the concepts within the NLN Jeffries simulation theory served as the basis for my study, the simulation design, educational strategies, and the simulation outcomes are the key concepts that are guided by the NLN Jeffries simulation theory. Therefore, the NLN Jeffries simulation theory was appropriate to serve as the theoretical underpinning for my study, which was assessing a simulation debriefing interventions' effect on undergraduate student learning outcomes.

Literature Review Related to Key Variables and/or Concepts Simulation

Simulation is an educational strategy used to represent real life situations in order promote and improve an individual's knowledge, skills, and performance through activities that are guided in a simulated and safe environment in order to improve one's cognitive, motor, and critical thinking skills (INACSL Standards Committee, 2016c; Hayden et al., 2014). These simulation activities reproduce clinical practice scenarios using virtual reality, patient actors, or manikins that simulate real life skills, interactivity, and critical thinking (Hayden et al., 2014).

Debriefing

The origins of debriefing are rooted in the military, aviation, education, and psychology (Gardner, 2013). Initially, debriefing was used in the military as a method to gather the historical description of battles during World War II. Later, military debriefing was used for stress management after individuals were exposed to traumatic events because debriefing was found to reduce anxiety and increased self-efficacy in individuals exposed to trauma in the military (Shalev, 1993). In the 1980's critical incident stress debriefing (CISD) or psychological debriefing was used to address physical and psychological symptoms associated with traumatic events such as deception, trauma, disaster, or stress related to combat (Gardner, 2013). In the aviation industry, debriefing was first used in pilot flight simulations and later for training the entire crew to reduce errors and prevent accidents. In education and psychology, debriefing was used to facilitate participation and guided discussions to analyze, synthesize, and apply learning (Gardner, 2013).

Debriefing Concept

Gardner (2013) defined debriefing as "a post-experience analytic process... [in which] there is discussion and analysis of an experience, evaluating and integrating lessons learned into one's cognition and consciousness" (p. 166). Johnson-Russell and Bailey (2010) and NLN-SIRC (2013) (as cited by Meakim et al., 2013) defined debriefing as:

an activity that follows a simulation experience and is led by a facilitator. Participants' reflective thinking is encouraged, and feedback is provided regarding the participants' performance while various aspects of the completed simulation are discussed. Participants are encouraged to explore emotions and question, reflect, and provide feedback to one another. The purpose of debriefing is to move toward assimilation and accommodation [in order] to transfer learning to future situations. (p. S5) For my study, debriefing included a discussion process that followed the simulated learning experience and a facilitator that was a faculty member led the discussion. This structured reflection facilitated the student nurses learning process and allowed the nursing students to learn from the simulation experience.

Gururaja et al. (2008) described the attributes associated with the effective practice of debriefing as engagement, focus, reflection and critique, and application. Engagement is facilitated using open-ended questions in order to engage the individual immediately and the whole team to reflect on their individual and team performance during the simulation scenario. The facilitator promotes the focus of the debriefing discussion through the creation of an open, comfortable environment that allows and encourages the participants to self-assess, self-correct, and disclose. Reflection and critique within debriefing allow the participant to reflect on the simulation experience, discuss the experience with others, learn from the experience, and then adjust one's actions in the future. Finally, through application, the facilitator encourages the participants to find the skills and behaviors that will lead to improvements and changes in one's behaviors and skills in their future practice (Gururaja et al., 2008).

Dreifuerst (2009) identified the attributes that facilitated meaningful learning in simulation debriefing as reflection, emotion, reception, and integration and assimilation. Reflection allows the simulation experience to be reviewed. Through this experiential review, it allows one to think about what occurred from start to finish and to contemplate the thought processes that occurred throughout the simulation experience. Through the emotional involvement in the learning experience, one can enhance or inhibit learning. The release of emotions and the expression of emotions set the frame for embedding the learning experience into memory. Reception is the openness to feedback. Through a positive learning experience, during the simulation debriefing, the participants are coached in a way that allows them to be open to feedback, in order for their strengths and weaknesses to be brought forward in a positive and nonthreatening way. Through integration and assimilation, the participant can assimilate the knowledge, skills, and attitudes to practice and finally to transfer the knowledge learned in one situation to another. All of these defining attributes of debriefing lead to an improved learning experience that can advance clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment (Dreifuerst, 2009).

Debriefing Process

In simulation-based experiences, debriefing is the process of reflection and review of the simulated scenario. During debriefing, the scenario is discussed, analyzed, and evaluated through faculty facilitation with the student, which leads to the development of clinical reasoning and clinical judgment skills (Dreifuerst, 2009; Gardner, 2013). Educators credit debriefing as being the critical element, essential component, or lynchpin to the learning process (Gardner, 2013; Mayville, 2011; Ryoo & Ha, 2015; Shinnick et al., 2011). In addition, the INACSL standards of best practice advise that debriefing meet five criteria:

• The debrief is facilitated by a person(s) competent in the process of debriefing.

• The debrief is conducted in an environment that is conducive to learning and supports confidentiality, trust, open communication, self-analysis, feedback, and reflection.

• The debrief is facilitated by a person(s) who can devote enough concentrated attention during the simulation to effectively debrief the simulation-based experience.

• The debrief is based on a theoretical framework for debriefing that is structured in a purposeful way.

• The debrief is congruent with the objectives and outcomes of the simulationbased experience. (INACSL Standards Committee, 2016, pp. S21–22)

Methods/Frameworks of Debriefing

While debriefing has been deemed essential to learning in the simulation process, the customary practices vary with each model, technique, or framework utilized (Dreifuerst, 2009; Shinnick et al., 2011). In 2009, Dreifuerst noted that the debriefing practices vary and many questions remain on how to debrief. Neill et al. (2011) noted that debriefing practices vary with each institution and minimal research has been done on debriefing best practices. Waznonis (2014) indicated that the debriefing practices were "not evidence based or widely known" (p. 459) and Hall and Tori (2017) noted inconsistencies on what is considered to be debriefing best practices. Furthermore, Lavoie et al. (2019) identified that there is minimal information describing how alternate approaches employed for simulation debriefing affect learning outcomes and clinical judgment and Lee et al. (2020) once again emphasized there is a wide variety of debriefing methods utilized for simulation, as well as inadequate determination of the most effective debriefing method.

In 2016, the INACSL Standards Committee indicated the debriefing frameworks currently utilized were models such as Debriefing with Good Judgment, GAS (gather, analyze, summarize), PEARLS, DML, Plus-Delta, 3D Model of Debriefing, and the OPT Model of Clinical Reasoning (INACSL Standards Committee, 2016). In 2017, Hall and Tori conducted an integrative review of debriefing and identified best practice guidelines and models of debriefing. The debriefing frameworks noted in the Hall and Tori (2017) study were the NLN Simulation Innovation Resource Center's Beginning/Introduction, Middle, Closing/Summary Model, Mayo Clinic Model for Debriefing, Plus-Delta, Advocacy-Inquiry, GREAT (guidelines, recommendations, events, analysis, and transfer), DML, 3D Model of Debriefing, and SHARP (set learning goals, how did it go, address concerns, review learning points, and plan ahead future practice).

Lee et al. (2020) conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis focusing on debriefing methods and learning outcomes found in studies published from January 1995 to December 2016. The systematic review identified seven debriefing methods in the 18 selected studies. The debriefing methods were video debriefing, DML, peer-led video debriefing, senior debriefing, debriefing with good judgment, verbal debriefing with journaling or blogging, and instructor-led discussion debriefing. Five of the 18 studies utilized a structured debriefing method, with three out of the five employing DML, one using debriefing with good judgment, and one employing debriefing using the LCJR. In the five studies that utilized structured debriefing methods, an assessment of learning was conducted in four out of the five studies with the utilization of the Health Sciences Reasoning Test (HSRT) or the LCJR. Significant improvement of the HSRT score was shown in two of the studies using DML as the structured debriefing method. The third study using DML, showed no significant improvement in learning, as assessed by the LCJR. The fourth study that used debriefing with the LCJR showed a significant improvement in learning, as assessed by the LCJR.

NCSBN Clinical Judgment Measurement Model Debriefing Framework

The steps associated with NCSBN's clinical judgment measurement model debriefing framework are the recognition of cues, analysis of those cues, prioritizing hypotheses, generating solutions, taking action, and evaluating outcomes. Through the recognition of cues, nursing students identify the pertinent patient data from a variety of available sources. Then through the analysis of those cues, the nursing students begin to associate the cues with what is emerging clinically. After that, the nursing students prioritize the potential issues according to risk of occurrence, urgency, or seriousness. Next, the nursing students identify interventions to potentiate a favorable outcome and then implement the most appropriate interventions for what was deemed highest priority. Finally, the outcome is evaluated against what was the expected outcome. These steps enhance nursing knowledge through the development of clinical judgment associated with critical thinking and decision-making (NCSBN, 2019).

Summary and Conclusions

Best practice indicates that debriefing should be based on a structured framework (Hall & Tori, 2017). Lee et al. (2020) noted that evidence is lacking on a structured

debriefing method that improves learning outcomes. While Dufrene and Young (2014) indicated that teacher facilitated debriefing is not the only effective method of debriefing, Levett-Jones and Lapkin (2014) found that debriefing practices have a positive impact on learning no matter what debriefing method is used. Therefore, there is inadequate evidence on a most effective debriefing process, as well as a process that is most effective for all simulated learning experiences (Hall & Tori, 2017; Kim & Kim, 2017; Lee, et al., 2020; Neill & Wotton, 2011; Waznonis, 2014). Additionally, there continues to be a lack of research on the simulation debriefing phase and what debriefing processes are considered to be best practice in nursing education (Alhaj & Musallam, 2018; Hall & Tori, 2017; Hines & Wood, 2016; Palaganas et al., 2016; Rutherford-Hemming et al., 2016; Shinnick et al., 2011).

As noted by Dreifuerst (2009), the debriefing process should be embedded in a conceptual framework, such as the nursing process framework, Tanner's model of clinical judgment, or the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model. However, the use of a conceptual framework is frequently not used in the debriefing process. Additionally, all these models/frameworks facilitate development of clinical reasoning and clinical judgment (Dreifuerst, 2009; NCSBN, 2019; Tanner, 2006) but they have not been used in conjunction with the simulation debriefing process. In 2013, Mariani et al. identified the need for quantifiable research to assess the effectiveness of structured debriefing models/frameworks, a follow-up study found that all the models of structured debriefing "can be used to assess students' thinking and understanding of clinical nursing concepts"

(Mariani et al., 2014, p. 330). In 2016, Hines and Woods noted that a standardized debriefing script such as Tanner's model resulted in improved student clinical judgment. Therefore, there is a gap in the literature and an ongoing need to determine the effect on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment that a structured debriefing process, such as the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework, had on these areas of student learning.

The literature indicates inadequate evidence on a most effective debriefing method, and although there are several frameworks utilized for debriefing, none had been deemed as most effective for all simulated learning experiences (Hall & Tori, 2017; Kim & Kim, 2017; Lee, et al., 2020; Neill & Wotton, 2011; Waznonis, 2014). In addition, there is lack of evidence on a structured debriefing method that improves learning outcomes (Lee, et al., 2020). Because there is lack of evidence on structured debriefing methods that improve learning outcomes, there was an ongoing need to develop and research additional debriefing frameworks and their effects on learning outcomes and there was a need to research the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework as a debriefing process for simulation.

Furthermore, debriefing has been shown to be the most important component critical to the learning process in the simulated learning experience (Forneris, et al., 2015; Gardner, 2013; Levett-Jones & Lapkin, 2014; Mayville, 2011; Ryoo & Ha, 2015; Sawyer et al., 2016; Shinnick et al., 2011; Waznonis, 2014). Through reflection, emotion, reception, integration, and assimilation; debriefing leads to an improved learning experience and the ability to advance a student's clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment (Dreifuerst, 2009). Additionally, as noted by Dreifuerst (2009), debriefing through guided reflection that is facilitated and embedded in a conceptual framework, is frequently not done. Therefore, research was needed on the conceptual debriefing framework, the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model for debriefing, and the need to assess the effect the model of debriefing had on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment of nursing students.

For my study, simulation debriefing followed a structured method, facilitated by a faculty member trained in the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model. This facilitative debriefing process included the recognition of cues (relevant data such as laboratory results, vital signs, medications, other signs or symptoms, etc.), analyzing the cues, prioritizing a hypothesis, generating a solution(s), taking action (nursing interventions), and evaluating the outcomes (NCSBN, 2019; Sportsman, 2018). Additionally, learning was assessed post simulation to determine the effectiveness of the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model for debriefing.

Chapter 3: Research Method

Introduction

The purpose of my study was to determine the effect that the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework for simulation debriefing has on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment in nursing students. In the following chapter, I present the research design and rationale, the population, sampling, and sampling procedures. I describe the procedure for recruitment, participation, and data collection and explain the instruments and intervention for my research study, data analysis plan, discussion of threats to validity, and ethical procedures.

Research Design and Rationale

Quasi-experimental studies are commonly used for nonrandomized intervention studies, and frequently researchers do not randomize due to ethical issues, complexity of the randomization of subjects, complexity in randomization at sites, or due to the availability of only a small sample size. The four quasi-experimental study designs include (a) a quasi-experimental design without control groups, (b) a quasi-experimental design with control groups and no pretest, (c) a quasi-experiment design with control groups and pretest, and (d) the interrupted time-series design (Harris, et al., 2006). I used a quasi-experimental single-group pretest–posttest design to study what effect the independent variable, the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework for simulation debriefing, had on the dependent variables of clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment in BSN nursing students. This design allows a researcher to test a cause-and-effect relationship when random assignment or a control group are not possible due to the availability of subjects (LoBiondo-Wood & Haber, 2014; Warner, 2013). Additionally, the quasi-experimental, single-group, pretest–posttest design was consistent for a study that conducts an intervention (simulation debriefing using the NCSBN clinical measurement model framework) on an existing group (class of BSN nursing students) that cannot be randomly assigned into groups to determine a cause and effect relationship on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment and therefore was used in this study.

A quasi-experimental design is a reliable research design used to advance the knowledge that assesses a variety of debriefing techniques effect on learning outcomes. This is corroborated by Lee et al.'s (2020) systematic review, which identified 18 studies that analyzed learning outcomes of undergraduate nursing students with an array of debriefing methods. Of these 18 studies, 14 used a quasi-experimental design and the other four used a randomized control trial (RCT). All the studies were analyzing the effect different debriefing methods had on qualitative and quantitative learning outcomes, such as clinical reasoning, clinical judgment, and debriefing experiences, in simulation nursing education. Therefore, the quasi-experimental approach was the appropriate choice as a research design that advanced knowledge in simulation nursing education.

Methodology

Population

The target population for my research study consisted of nursing students enrolled in a prelicensure RN baccalaureate undergraduate nursing program at a university in the central United States. The nursing students were junior and senior level students enrolled

39

in medical–surgical nursing courses that included a high-fidelity simulation scenario in their clinical course. The power analysis determined that the correct sample size was 34. The potential target population size of students enrolled in a nursing course at a university in central United States was 70 to 75 nursing students.

Sampling and Sampling Procedures

The sampling strategy I chose was a nonprobability convenience sampling method. While a nonprobability sampling method produces findings that are less generalizable, this sampling technique is easier to obtain and still allows for confidence in the findings due to the representativeness of the sample and external validity. Representativeness and external validity are accomplished through a sampling that reflects the target population with the strict use of inclusion criteria, exclusion criteria, and adequate sample size. Convenience sampling poses a risk for bias, but the extent or degree that bias is or is not present can be assessed by comparing the sample to population percentages that would occur in a random sampling (LoBiondo-Wood & Haber, 2014).

The inclusion criteria for participants included nursing students in one BSN undergraduate nursing program who were at the sophomore, junior, or senior level in fundamentals of nursing, medical–surgical nursing, pediatric nursing, mental health nursing, or obstetrical mother baby nursing courses that include high fidelity simulation scenarios. The exclusion criteria were diploma and associate degree nursing students, accelerated BSN students, students who had a completed degree such as RN to BSN students, students not in the previously mentioned nursing courses, and students retaking the specific nursing course in which the research study is conducted in or those nursing courses without high-fidelity simulation scenarios.

To compute the sample size for the research problem, I used the G*Power statistical power analyses program, Version 3.1.9.4 by Buchner et al. (1992–2019). With the calculator, I selected the t test as the test family, the statistical test selected was the means: difference between two dependent means (matched pairs), and the type of power analysis was a priori. The level of statistical significance or the alpha level (α) was set at 0.05, which signifies a small risk for a Type I error or the probability of rejecting the null hypothesis when the null hypothesis is actually correct. The power level ($1 - \beta$) was set at 0.8, with a beta of 0.2. Because the power level chosen is close to 1, the hypothesis test is good at detecting a false null hypothesis; therefore, there would be a small chance of making a Type II error by failing to reject the null hypothesis. A medium effect size of 0.5 was selected. I used a medium effect size so that I could detect how large the difference is between two groups or how strong the association is between the matched pair groups (see Warner, 2013). The power analysis determined that the correct sample size was 34.

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

I recruited prospective participants from an undergraduate nursing program. Potential participants were recruited in person with a presentation about the study in the last few minutes of a class session. The information provided included simulation training on the simulation scenario format, the study's background, purpose, and the risks, benefits, and rights of the participant. I obtained consent from all participants prior to the initiation of the study in their nursing course.

Screening questions for enrollment in my study included whether they were a student in an undergraduate BSN nursing program; whether they were 18 years or older; and whether they were currently enrolled in a sophomore, junior, or senior level nursing course as a first time student of fundamentals of nursing, medical–surgical nursing, pediatric nursing, mental health nursing, or obstetrical mother baby nursing. Individuals who answered yes to all screening questions qualified for the study. If an individual answered no to any of the questions, they were thanked for their interest. Participants were also informed they could remove themselves from the study at any time for any reason. After enrollment, each participant completed a sociodemographic questionnaire with the following demographic information collected: (a) gender, (b) age, (c) marital status, (d) ethnic origin, (e) prior education preparation, and (f) job experience (i.e., healthcare work experience, nursing assistant). The sociodemographic questionnaire can be found in Appendix C.

To measure the dependent variables of clinical judgment, clinical reasoning, and critical thinking, participants completed the LCJR, CREST, and CTD. The LCJR measures clinical judgment across 11 behaviors on a scale of 1 to 4, from beginning to exemplary, and it was converted to a four-point ordinal scale (Adamson & Kardong-Edgren, 2012; Manetti, 2018). I received permission to use the LCJR from Elsevier and the Elsevier and Copyright Clearance Center (Appendix D). The CREST measures clinical reasoning with 10 items on a five-point Likert scale, and the CTD measures

critical thinking in five areas on a six-point Likert scale from 1 = *strongly disagree* to 6 = *strongly agree* (Berkow et al., 2011; Liaw et al., 2018). I received permission from Elsevier and the Elsevier and Copyright Clearance Center to use the CREST (Appendix E), and I received permission from Wolters Kluwer Health Inc. and the Copyright Clearance Center to use the CTD (Appendix F).

Intervention

As noted in the INACSL standards of best practice, each simulation experience includes a debriefing session at the end, which is an essential component to the learning process (INACSL Standards Committee, 2016). My study focused on the fourth criteria, in which the debriefing process is based on a theoretical framework. I used the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model as a new debriefing framework as the intervention to facilitate the debriefing process.

The debriefing intervention using the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework included a process that facilitates clinical judgment through prompts for debriefing the simulated experience. The design of the debriefing intervention was formulated to represent the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework. This framework includes recognition of cues, analyzing the cues, prioritizing a hypothesis, generating solutions, taking action or implementing the solution, and then evaluating the outcomes (NCSBN, 2019).

At the conclusion of the simulated experience and after taking the pretest, all participants received the debriefing intervention through formulated prompts designed to mirror the components of the framework. Appendix G provides the template with the script and prompts for the six components that made up the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework for the debriefing intervention of the simulation scenario. These prompts mirror the NCSBN clinical measurement model framework and were an intricate part of the debriefing intervention. This template assured that each participant received the same debriefing structure script and prompts, while minimizing any bias that could occur if the defined structure was not used when assessing the model/framework's effect on a nursing student's clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment. Immediately after the debriefing intervention, the participant completed the CTD, LCJR, and CREST as a posttest. To match the pretest to the posttest, I assigned each participant a code so I could match their pretest and posttest. For example, Participant 1 was coded as 1A for the pretest and 1B for the posttest.

Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs

The LCJR was developed by Lasater and was published in the *Journal of Nursing Education* in November 2007. This rubric was developed to evaluate clinical judgment in a single episode in the simulation lab and is based on Tanner's clinical judgment model's phases of noticing, interpreting, responding, and reflecting. The instrument defines noticing, interpreting, responding, and reflecting with 11 behaviors, and each of these elements are scored based on the four developmental levels of exemplary, accomplished, developing, or beginning (Lasater, 2007, 2011). I received permission to use the LCJR from Elsevier and the Elsevier and Copyright Clearance Center (Appendix D).

Each student's simulation scenario was assessed with the LCJR on the 11 behaviors of clinical judgment, which are rated from beginning to exemplary. The

beginning level behavior earned 1 point, *developing* level earned 2 points, *accomplished* level earned 3 points, and *exemplary* level earned 4 points for each of the 11 behaviors. A student's final score and the determination of nursing clinical judgment ranged from 0 to 44 points. Clinical judgment at the beginning level ranged from 0–11 points, developing level at 12–22, accomplished level at 23–33, and the exemplary level at 34–44 (Miraglia & Asselin, 2015).

The LCJR has been used for research and educational purposes to assess students and new graduates to identify clinical performance abilities in the simulation setting (Adamson et al., 2012). The validity of the LCJR for assessing clinical judgment during simulation scenarios was established by accurately identifying student performance levels in the Adamson (2011) study. Additionally, Sideras (2007) found that the LCJR's construct validity was supported by its capability to correctly distinguish student ability (as cited in Adamson et al., 2012) and through its ability to improve clinical judgment, which was demonstrated in Gubrud-Howe's (2008) study (as cited in Adamson et al., 2012). Furthermore, Adamson and Kardong-Edgren (2012) assessed the reliability and validity of the LCJR in measuring student performance in simulated learning activities. The reliability and validity of the LCJR is shown with an interrater reliability of 0.889, the test-retest reliability intraclass correlation (3, 1) of 0.908, the Pearson (r) of 0.908, Spearman (ρ) of 0.910, and internal consistency by Cronbach's α of 0.974. These data provide evidence that supports the reliability and validity of the LCJR for assessing clinical judgment in simulation (Adamson & Kardong-Edgren, 2012).

In 2018, Liaw et al. developed the CREST to measure clinical reasoning skills of student nurses by assessing their ability to recognize and respond to a simulated declining clinical condition. Nurse Education Today published this tool in March 2018. Each student's clinical reasoning skills were assessed using the CREST across ten items of clinical reasoning on a five-point Likert scale with a minimum score of 10 and a maximum score of 50 (Liaw, et al., 2018). Permission to use the CREST for my study was received from Elsevier and the Elsevier and Copyright Clearance Center (Appendix E).

The validity and reliability of the CREST was established as a valid and reliable tool to measure clinical reasoning skills of student nurses through an assessment of their ability to recognize and respond to a declining simulated clinical experience by content, construct, concurrent, and predictive validity and through internal consistency and interrater reliability. Content validity of the 10-item CREST was established by an expert panel of clinicians, researchers, and educators that generated an item-level content validity index (I-CVI) of a minimum 0.75 for each item and 0.93 for the overall scale. Construct validity was demonstrated through significantly higher (p < 0.001) clinical reasoning scores of third year students over second year students. Concurrent validity was demonstrated by significant positive correlation (p < 0.01) between global rating scores and seven out of the eight subscale scores. The predictive validity of the CREST was evaluated with the RAPIDS-tool (Rescuing A Patient In Deteriorating Situation) total scores. The reliability and high internal consistency of the

CREST was demonstrated by a Cronbach's alpha of 0.92 (95% confidence interval 0.86–0.95). Additionally, the CREST demonstrated high inter-rater reliability with an intraclass coefficient (ICC) between two raters using the CREST of 0.88 (95% confidence interval 0.74–0.94; Liaw et al., 2018).

The CTD was developed by the Nursing Executive Center in 2009 and it was published in The Journal of Nursing Administration in April 2011. The CTD measures critical thinking in five areas and 25 core competencies on a six-point Likert scale from one-strongly disagree to six-strongly agree (Berkow et al., 2011). Permission to use the CTD was received from Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. and the Copyright Clearance Center (Appendix F).

Reliability and validity of the CTD was demonstrated with an overall Cronbach α of 0.976 for all 25 core critical thinking competencies and more specifically, for the five skill categories, with a Cronbach α of 0.910 for problem recognition, 0.882 for clinical decision making, 0.932 for prioritization, 0.919 for clinical implementation, and 0.922 for reflection. A 0.961 Guttman split-half and a 0.930 correlation between halves demonstrated the entire instrument's reliability (Berkow et al., 2011).

Intervention Studies or Those Involving Manipulation of an Independent Variable

The intervention for my study was a simulation debriefing process that followed the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework for debriefing. Following the simulated learning experience, the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework was used to lead the reflective process of simulation debriefing. The reflective process followed a script that included the six components of the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework: cue recognition, analyze cues, prioritize hypotheses, generate solutions, take action, and evaluate outcomes (Appendix G: NCSBN Clinical Judgment Measurement model script). After the simulated learning experience, clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment were assessed to determine what effect the simulation debriefing process utilizing the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model debriefing framework had on each of them.

Critical thinking is a process of thinking and reasoning in order to analyze problems, make judgments, determine conclusions, and then to initiate actions in order to make a clinical decision in solving a problem that leads to the best patient outcome for the situation (Brunt, 2005; Facione, 1990; Lee et al., 2017; Shin et al., 2006). I measured critical thinking with the CTD in the five categorical areas of problem recognition, clinical decision-making, prioritization, clinical implementation, and reflection on a sixpoint Likert scale, with 1 = strongly disagree to 6 = strongly agree. There is a maximum of 30 points for each category and 150 total points for the CTD (Berkow et al., 2011; Bittner et al., 2020; Turkel et al., 2016) (see Appendix H).

Clinical judgment is a thought process in which an individual interprets and forms conclusions based on the needs, concerns, and health problems of patients and then makes the decision to use either a standard intervention or a new and innovative technique based on the patient's response (Tanner, 2006). I measured clinical judgment using the LCJR based on 11 behaviors from which are scored as beginning to exemplary. The beginning level behavior earned the participant 1 point, developing level earned 2 points, accomplished earned 3 points, and exemplary level earned 4 points. Overall nursing clinical judgment ranged from 0 to 44 points with clinical judgment at the beginning level scoring 0-11, developing 12-22, accomplished 23-33, and exemplary 34-44 (Miraglia & Asselin, 2015) (Appendix I).

Clinical reasoning is processing and gathering clinical cues and information to determine a patient's condition so that interventions can be planned, results evaluated, and thoughtful reflection can be performed, to form new understandings and knowledge from the process. The clinical reasoning process employs collecting the correct cues so the right action can be implemented at the right time, for the right reason, on the right patient (Levett-Jones, et al., 2010). I measured clinical reasoning using the CREST which assessed ten items of clinical reasoning on a five-point Likert scale with a minimum score of 10 and a maximum score of 50 (Liaw et al., 2018) (Appendix J).

Data Analysis Plan

I used SPSS Statistics version 28.0 to analyze my data. Prior to data analysis via the SPSS program, I screened the data for errors, inconsistencies, outliers, and missing values. The data screening process included proofreading and comparing the SPSS file data with the originally obtained data for correct coding, data entry, and any missing values. Statistical techniques such as a histogram, boxplot, or a scatterplot were used to identify outliers or skewed data. I examined the data for outliers to determine if the score was outside of +3 and -3 standard deviations of the sample mean. I assessed the data for outliers so I could determine what effect had the outcome and which provided a more accurate explanation of the analysis (Warner, 2013). The research question being addressed in this study was: What effect does simulation debriefing, assessed by using the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework; have on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment of BSN nursing students. The following statement is the null hypothesis that is being tested to answer the research question: There will be no difference in the effect of simulation debriefing, as assessed by using the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework, has on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment of BSN nursing students. The following statement is the alternative hypothesis: There will be a difference in the effect of simulation debriefing, as assessed by using the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework, has on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment of BSN nursing students.

I analyzed the data using the paired sample t-test, which allowed me to compare the means of the one groups' clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment, before and after simulation debriefing using the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework. In order to match the pretest to the posttest, each participant was assigned a code to mark his or her pretest and posttest. For example, Participant 1 was coded as 1A for the pretest and 1B for the posttest. These codes were written on each participant's pre and posttests. The pretest and posttest groups were comprised of the same BSN nursing students and were assessed before and after the intervention. I also conducted a Cronbach's alpha on the CREST, CTD, and LCJR participant responses to assess the internal consistency and reliability of the scales for measuring clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment.

Threats to Validity

External Validity

Selection bias was a threat to external validity due to quasi-experimental research design and the inability to randomly assign participants into different groups which prevents generalizing the results to a wider population (Lund Research Ltd., 2022a). To minimize this threat, my research was conducted by pretest and posttest on the same group of participants.

The Hawthorne effect, pretest sensitization, and posttest sensitization, or otherwise known as testing effects, was also a threat to external validity as participants may perform at a higher level because they know their performance is being assessed in a study. Additionally, because the participants were assessed before and after the intervention, they may have gained some understanding of the research matter and therefore may be sensitized to the debriefing topics, which may affect the posttest scores than it would have otherwise (LoBiondo-Wood & Haber, 2014). While these testing effects cannot be totally prevented, I acknowledge that they are potential contributors to the study results, rather than only due to the independent variable.

Experimenter effects that cause experimenter bias can also be a threat to external validity. These experimenter effects could be verbal or nonverbal cues that influence the participant responses in the study. Additionally, the experimenter may have a formed a directional assumption about the outcome of the study and this could also lead to personal biases that affects the experimenter's actions during the study (Lund Research Ltd.,

2022a). To minimize these threats, I followed the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model script.

Internal Validity

Potential threats to internal validity for my study included history effects, maturation effects, testing effects, instrumentation effects, selection bias, and experimental mortality.

History effects could include a participant not getting a good night's sleep prior to the pretest, posttest, or both. This has the potential to affect the participant's alertness, could impact thought process effectiveness, and therefore could affect their clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and/or clinical judgment. Another history effect that had the potential to affect the dependent variables of clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and/or clinical judgment are events that may occur during the study or between the pretest and posttest. The history effect of providing additional subject matter between the pretest and posttest can be minimized or prevented from being a threat to internal validity by minimizing the time between the pretest and the posttest (Lund Research Ltd, 2022). I minimized or prevented this by setting up the pretest and posttest evaluations to be conducted on the same day.

Maturation effects are additional threats to internal validity. These effects may include that the participant could change over time or from pretest to posttest in my study. This threat was minimal because the time between the pretest and posttest took place within an hour of each other (Lund Research Ltd, 2022). In quasi-experimental research designs that include a pretest and posttest, testing effects may also be a threat to internal validity. With testing effect, the participant is being tested more than once and the participant may have gained a familiarization with the subject matter, the purpose, or the testing environment. Due to this exposure, there was the potential to influence posttest scores in a positive way that may not only be due to the independent variable (Lund Research Ltd, 2022). Therefore, this potential threat to internal validity will be noted in my study.

Instrumentation effects can be a threat to internal validity due to instrument or researcher bias. Instrumental bias occurs when the instrument used to measure the effect on the dependent variables changes over the course of the experiment. While researcher bias can occur when the researcher generated scores given on the measurement instrument, change due to experience, increased proficiency, or if a different researcher is used for the pretest and posttest (Lund Research Ltd, 2022). To prevent instrument bias from a changing instrument over time, only the CREST was used to measure clinical reasoning, only the CTD was used to measure critical thinking, and only the LCJR was used to measure clinical judgment. Therefore, the instrument to assess and measure clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment was the same throughout my research. In order to prevent and minimize researcher bias when generating clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment scores, the participants performed self-evaluations.

Selection bias can also be a threat to internal validity when using a quasiexperimental research design because design participants are not randomly assigned into different groups (Lund Research Ltd, 2022). In my research, selection bias was mitigated through a one group or single group, pretest posttest design.

Experimental mortality was another potential threat to internal validity which includes participant death, a participant no longer available due to a student leaving school or moving away, or no longer willing to participate in the study (Lund Research Ltd, 2022). This was not a limitation in my study because I did not have any participants dropout and my study was a one group or single group, pretest posttest design.

Construct Validity

Construct validity is the degree that an instrument measures the basic assumption or general principles that it claims to measure (Surucu & Maslakci, 2020). The instruments that were used to measure clinical judgment, clinical reasoning, and critical thinking, after using the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework for simulation debriefing, were the LCJR to measure clinical judgment, the CREST to measure clinical reasoning, and the CTD to measure critical thinking. These instruments did not pose a threat to construct validity and will support the conclusions of this study because they measure the assumptions and principles of clinical judgment, clinical reasoning, and critical thinking as identified below. The LCJR's construct validity was supported in the Sideras (2007) study with the conclusion of its capability to correctly distinguish student ability (as cited in Adamson et al., 2012) and its ability to improve clinical judgment in the Gubrud-Howe (2008) study (as cited in Adamson et al., 2012). The CREST's construct validity was supported through significantly higher (p < 0.001) clinical reasoning scores of third year students over second year students (Liaw et al., 2018). The CTD's reliability as a consistent measurement of 25 core competencies of critical thinking was supported with an overall Cronbach alpha of 0.976 CTD, and in the five skill categories, with a Cronbach alpha of 0.910 for problem recognition, 0.882 for clinical decision-making, 0.932 for prioritization, 0.919 for clinical implementation, and 0.922 for reflection (Berkow et al., 2011).

Ethical Procedures

Prior to initiating data collection for my study, I obtained Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval through Walden University and the university where the study was conducted (Walden University's approval 10-24-22-0588635). The IRB committees on these campuses reviewed the research plan in order to protect the rights of the participants. The application to the IRB included a description of the study and its purpose, risks and benefits of the study, process for informed consent, how privacy and confidentiality was protected, the scientific merit and/or potential use of the results, participation in the study was voluntary, right of the participant to withdraw at any time, and my name and contact information, as the researcher was provided to all participants so they could contact me if there were any questions (Creswell & Creswell, 2018).

I recruited participant by scheduling an informational presentation to all potential participants the last few minutes of their class. The informational presentation and recruitment flyer, that was provided, included providing the participants with (a) an explanation of the purpose of the study, (b) roles of the researcher, (c) description of what will be done, (d) description of anticipated benefits to participants or others, (e) description of foreseeable risk or discomforts, (f) expected duration of participant participation, (g) statement that participation is voluntary, (h) statement that participant may withdraw at any time without penalty, (i) description on how confidentiality will be maintained, and (j) whom to contact with any question about the research or participant rights. Informed consent was obtained from all participants prior to any data collection via an email they sent to me in which they replied, "I consent."

Several ethical concerns and procedures were considered and were addressed when conducting this research. The first ethical consideration was related to recruitment and the process to ensure voluntary participation in the research by participants. I addressed the ethical concern of recruitment by providing an informational presentation to all potential participants with the general purpose of the study, risks and benefits of the study, their participation was voluntary, they could have withdrawn at any time, how I protected their privacy and confidentiality, and provided my name and contact information, so they were able to contact me if any questions arose (Creswell & Creswell, 2018).

The second ethical consideration was maintaining confidentiality (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). The study data were numbered and/or coded so it could not be linked to the participant's name. The participant's identity was also numbered and/or coded to maintain confidentiality. I am the only one who knows the codes. All study data were collected, stored in a secure place, and will not be shared without permission. Additionally, the participant's name and/or other identifiers was stored separately from the research data, the participant's name and other identifiers were replaced with a unique code and this code will only be used to refer to that participant's data, and the unique

code key was stored separately from the participant identifiers. The study data is accessible to the dissertation committee and myself upon request. Furthermore, the study data and participant identifiers are safely stored and will be maintained until 5 years from the date of degree completion and then all the study data and participant identifiers will be destroyed.

Finally, power relationships are another ethical consideration for my study because there may be a perceived power imbalance between the data collector, because I am a college nursing instructor and the participants are nursing students (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). I addressed this by conducting the study with participants who were not in my courses.

Summary

In Chapter 3, I presented the research design and rationale, methodology, data analysis plan, and threats to validity. The target population for this research study consisted of sophomore, junior, or senior level nursing students enrolled in a prelicensure-RN, baccalaureate undergraduate nursing program at a university in the central United States. I used a quasi-experimental single-group pretest–posttest design to study what effect the independent variable, the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework for simulation debriefing, had on the dependent variables of clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment in BSN nursing students. I chose a nonprobability convenience sampling method for this study and conducted a G*Power Statistical Power Analyses to calculate the sample size. The validity and reliability of the instruments used to measure clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment were described in this chapter along with a detailed description of each instrument. In

Chapter 4, I will provide the study results in detail.

Chapter 4: Results

Introduction

The purpose of my single group, pretest-posttest study was to determine what effect a simulation debriefing model, based on the NCSBN clinical measurement model framework, would have on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment of BSN nursing students. I used a quantitative quasi-experimental methodological approach to address the research question: What effect does simulation debriefing, as assessed by using the NCSBN clinical measurement model framework, have on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment of BSN nursing students? My null hypotheses stated that there would be no difference in the effect of simulation debriefing, as assessed by using the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework, on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment of BSN nursing students. My alternate hypotheses stated that there would be a difference in the effect of simulation debriefing, as assessed by using the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework, on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment of BSN nursing students. In Chapter 4, I discuss the details related to volunteer recruitment, data collection, and population demographics and representation. The remaining sections of Chapter 4 contain the results of the study data analysis and statistical analysis findings.

Data Collection

Participants in the study were recruited in person from an undergraduate BSN nursing program with a presentation about the study in the last few minutes of their class session. The presentation, along with the recruitment flyer and consent form, was
provided to each potential participant during the last few minutes of two separate class sessions. Out of 42 potential participants, 40 participants consented to participate. This met the power analysis sample size of 34 participants, so no further recruitment was done. Consent was obtained from all participants by replying with the words "I consent" to my email. After participant consent was obtained and before data collection occurred, the sociodemographic background of each participant was obtained. Sociodemographic data included gender, age, marital status, ethnic origin, prior education, and job experience.

The participants were 85% female (Table 1) and 75% Caucasian (Table 2). Most participants, 82.5%, were single (Table 3); 85% indicated that high school graduate was their highest education completed, while 10% had taken undergraduate courses, 2.5% had a baccalaureate degree in a field other than nursing, 2.5% were an LPN, and 2.5% did not specify (Table 4). The level of healthcare experience was varied, as 70% of participants had CNA/nursing assistant experience (Table 5).

Table 1

Gender

	Frequency	Percent
Male	6	15
Female	34	85
Total	40	100

	Frequency	Percent
Caucasian	30	75
Hispanic	4	10
African American	1	2.5
Black African	1	2.5
African	1	2.5
Caucasian/African American	1	2.5
Hispanic/Asian	1	2.5
Caucasian/Hispanic	1	2.5
Total	40	100.00

Ethnic Group Identification

Table 3

Marital Status

	Frequency	Percent
Single	33	82.5
Married	7	17.5
Total	40	100.00

Table 4

Highest Education Completed

	Frequency	Percent
High school graduate	33	82.5
Undergraduate courses-no degree completion	4	10
BS/BA in other field than nursing	1	2.5
High school/LPN	1	2.5
None specified	1	2.5
Total	40	100.00

	Frequency	Percent
CNA/nursing assistant	28	70.0
CNA/medication aide	1	2.5
CNA/phlebotomist	1	2.5
CNA/medical history technician	1	2.5
CNA/dialysis patient care technician	1	2.5
CNA/emergency medical technician	1	2.5
CNA/certified medical assistant/phlebotomy	1	2.5
Medical assistant	1	2.5
Behavioral technician	1	2.5
LPN	1	2.5
None	3	7.5
Total	40	100.00

According to the 2020 National Nursing Workforce Survey of RNs and the overall estimated population values for race, 81% identified as White/Caucasian, 7.2% Asian, 6.7% Black/African American, and 5.6% Hispanic/Latinx (Smiley et al., 2021). The gender distribution of RNs in this survey, and the overall estimated population values for gender, identified that 9.4% are male and 90.5% are female (Smiley et al., 2021). These data indicate that the BSN nursing student participants were demographically representative of the population as a whole and the RN workforce that these participants will become after graduation.

Data collection for the study took place on 4 separate days in the undergraduate BSN nursing courses that had a simulated learning experience. On the day of the simulated learning experience, the participants completed self-evaluation surveys prior to and after the simulation debriefing process. The debriefing process that was provided by the course nursing instructor was based on the NCSBN clinical measurement model framework. The simulated learning experiences on the 4 days that the self-evaluation surveys were completed included a stroke and a heart failure simulation. The NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework script that was used for the simulated stroke and heart failure simulation included cue recognition, cue analysis, hypothesis prioritization, generation of solution(s), intervention(s), and evaluation of outcome(s). Appendices K and L provide the script and prompts for the stroke and heart failure simulations, which were used by the course instructors for the debriefing intervention of the simulation scenario with the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework.

Intervention Fidelity

To maintain the intervention fidelity of the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework for debriefing, which was administered by the course faculty, I met with and educated the instructors on setting up and administering the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model debriefing intervention. Through this education, the clinical instructors and I set up a script specific to their simulation that they used for debriefing and followed the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework. The NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model debriefing script that was used for the stroke and heart failure simulation are provided in Appendices K and L.

Results

To test the null hypotheses that debriefing using the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework had no difference in effect on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment of BSN nursing students, I conducted a paired samples *t*- test. The paired samples *t*-test determines whether there is a statistically significant mean difference between the pretest and posttest scores of clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment before and after the simulation debriefing intervention using the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework. There are four basic assumptions that I needed to consider to conduct a paired-samples *t*-test. The first statistical assumption was that there is one dependent variable that is measured on a continuous ratio/interval level or Likert scale (Lund Research Ltd., 2022c; Norman, 2010; Pallant, 2016). In the study, clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment were included as one dependent variable measured on a Likert scale, so the first assumption was met.

The second assumption that I needed to consider to conduct a paired-samples *t*test was that there needed to be one independent variable that consisted of two related groups or matched pairs (Lund Research Ltd., 2022c). This assumption was met because the participants who completed the pretest and posttest were two related groups that were matched pairs of BSN nursing students. The third and fourth assumptions that I needed to consider to run a paired-samples *t*-test were: (a) in the differences between the two related groups there should be no significant outliers (Lund Research Ltd., 2022c); and (b) the distribution of the differences of the dependent variable between the two related groups should be approximately normally distributed (Lund Research Ltd., 2022c; Pallant, 2016). The difference between the two related groups showed no outliers, as shown below in the boxplot (Figure 3), and therefore the third assumption was met.

Figure 3

Boxplot of Pretest-Posttest Clinical Reasoning, Critical Thinking, and Clinical Judgment



Difference Scores

Difference of the posttest clinical reasoning, critical thinking, & clinical judgment scores from the pretest clinical reasoning, critical thinking, & clinical judgment scores

Because the participant size was fewer than 50, the Shapiro-Wilk test was used to assess distribution between the two related groups. The normal distribution assumption was met as identified with a significance of .391 on the Shapiro-Wilk test (Table 6) because a significance of more than .05 indicates that the two related groups are normally distributed.

Test of Normality

	Shapiro-Wilk		ilk
	Statistic	df	Sig.
Difference of the posttest scores of clinical reasoning, critical	.971	40	.391
thinking, and clinical judgment from the pretest scores of clinical			
reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment			

The histogram in Figure 4 shows a classic bell curve shape, which also indicates that the data are approximately normally distributed and meet the normal distribution assumption.

Figure 4





In addition, the difference of the posttest clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment scores from the pretest clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical

judgment scores are shown to be normally distributed with a skewness of .510 (SE =

.374) and kurtosis of .219 (SE = .733), as Table 7 shows.

Table 7

Difference of Posttest from Pretest Scores of Clinical Reasoning, Critical Thinking, and

Clinical Judgment

Skewness	.510	
Std. error of skewness	.374	
Kurtosis	.219	
Std. error of kurtosis	.733	

The participant scores in clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment improved from pretest to posttest after the debriefing intervention used the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework. The pretest clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment score increased from M = 188.45, SD = 19.32 to a posttest clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment score of M = 207.65, SD = 15.83 (Table 8).

Table 8

Pretest/Posttest Paired Samples Statistics

	Mean	Ν	Std.
			deviation
Clinical reasoning (CREST), critical thinking (CTD), clinical	188.45	40	19.32
judgment (LCJR) retest			
Clinical reasoning (CREST), critical thinking (CTD), clinical	207.65	40	15.83
judgment (LCJR) posttest			

The mean score of the CREST, CTD, and LCJR showed a statistically significant

(p <0.001) mean score increase from pretest to posttest of 19.20, 95% CI [23.87, 14.53],

t(39) = 8.32, p < 0.001 (Table 9). Therefore, the null hypothesis is rejected.

Table 9

Pretest/Posttest Paired Samples Test

	_	Paired diff	ferences		_		Signif	Significance	
	Mean	Std.	95% C. differ	I. of the rence	t t		One-	Two-	
		Deviation	Lower	Upper			sided p	sided p	
Clinical reasoning (CREST), critical thinking (CTD), clinical judgment (LCJR) pretest to clinical reasoning (CREST), critical thinking (CTD), clinical judgment (LCJR) posttest	19.20	14.60	23.87	14.53	8.32		<0.001	<0.001	

I analyzed the effect and found the effect size of clinical reasoning, critical

thinking, and clinical judgment using Cohen's d, is 1.32 which is a large effect (Table

10).

Table 10

Pretest/Posttest Paired Samples Effect Sizes

	Cohen's <i>d</i> point estimate
Clinical reasoning (CREST), critical thinking (CTD), clinical judgment (LCJR) pretest – clinical reasoning (CREST), critical thinking (CTD), clinical judgment (LCJR) posttest	1.32

The mean difference in clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment are all statistically significant from zero (p < 0.001). Therefore, I rejected the null hypothesis, indicating there was a difference in the effect of simulation debriefing, as assessed by using the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework, on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment of BSN nursing students.

Additional Findings

While the research question combined clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment into one dependent variable, I also separated each pretest and posttest scores of clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment to determine if the simulation debriefing model, based on the NCSBN Clinical Measurement Model framework had any affect individually on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment of BSN nursing students. The details of those results are provided below.

The participant scores in clinical reasoning improved from pretest to posttest after the debriefing intervention using the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework. The pretest clinical reasoning score increased from M = 40.78, SD = 4.098 to a posttest clinical reasoning score of M = 44.88, SD = 3.722 (Table 11).

Table 11

	Mean	Ν	Std. deviation
Clinical reasoning (CREST) pretest	40.78	40	4.098
Clinical reasoning (CREST) posttest	44.88	40	3.722

Clinical Reasoning (CREST) Paired Samples Statistics

This is a statistically significant mean score increase of 4.1, 95% CI [5.226, 2.974], t(39) = 7.364, p < 0.001, (Table 12). Therefore, the null hypothesis is rejected.

	Paired differences						Signif	icance
	Mean	Mean Std.	95% C.I. of the difference		t	df	One-	Two-
		deviation	Lower	Upper	_		sided p	sided p
Clinical reasoning (CREST) pretest – clinical reasoning (CREST) posttest	4.1	3.521	5.226	2.974	7.364	39	<0.001	<0.001

Clinical Reasoning (CREST) Paired Samples Test

I analyzed the clinical reasoning pretest/posttest paired samples effect size using Cohen's d point estimate and found the effect size of clinical reasoning using Cohen's d is 1.164, which is a large effect.

The participant scores in critical thinking improved from pretest to posttest after the debriefing intervention using the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework. The pretest clinical reasoning score increased from M = 112.23, SD = 12.248to a posttest clinical reasoning score of M = 123.13, SD = 10.000 (Table 13).

Table 13

Critical Thinking (CTD) Paired Samples Statistics

	Mean	Ν	Std. deviation
Critical thinking (CTD) pretest	112.23	40	12.248
Critical thinking (CTD) posttest	123.13	40	10.000

This is a statistically significant mean score increase of 10.9, 95% CI [13.918, 7.882], t(39) = 7.305, p < 0.001, (Table 14). Therefore, the null hypothesis is rejected.

				Significance				
	Mean	Std. deviation	95% C.I. of the difference		t	df	One- sided	Two- sided
			Lower	Upper	-		р	р
Critical thinking (CTD) pretest – critical thinking (CTD) posttest	10.9	9.438	13.918	7.882	7.305	39	<0.001	<0.001

Critical Thinking (CTD) Paired Samples Test

I analyzed the critical thinking pretest/posttest paired samples effect size using

Cohen's d point estimate and found the effect size of critical thinking using Cohen's d is

1.155, which is a large effect.

The participant scores in clinical judgment improved from pretest to posttest after the debriefing intervention using the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework. The pretest clinical judgment score increased from M = 35.45, SD = 4.717 to a posttest clinical judgment score of M = 39.65, SD = 3.613 (Table 15).

Table 15

Clinical Judgment (LCJR) Paired Samples Statistics

	Mean	Ν	Std. deviation
Clinical judgment (LCJR) pretest	35.45	40	4.717
Clinical judgment (LCJR) posttest	39.65	40	3.613

This is a statistically significant mean score increase of 4.2, 95% CI [5.404,

2.996], t(39) = 7.058, p < 0.001, (Table 16). Therefore, the null hypothesis is rejected.

	Paired differences						Significance	
	Mean	an deviation	95% C.I. of the difference		t	df	One- sided	Two- sided
		ueviation	Lower	Upper			p	р
Clinical judgment (LCJR) pretest – clinical judgment (LCJR) posttest	4.2	3.764	5.404	2.996	7.058	39	<0.001	<0.001

Clinical Judgment (LCJR) Paired Samples Test

I analyzed the clinical judgment pretest/posttest paired samples effect size using Cohen's d point estimate and found the effect size of clinical judgment using Cohen's d was 1.116, which is a large effect.

Summary

The purpose of the study was to determine the effect simulation debriefing, as assessed by using the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework, had on the clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment of nursing students. The research question I sought to answer was: What effect does simulation debriefing, as assessed by using the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework, have on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment of BSN nursing students? From the data, I found that there was a statistically significant difference in the effect of the simulation debriefing intervention, using the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework, on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment of BSN nursing students. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected, which suggested there was a difference in the effect of simulation debriefing, as assessed by using the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework, on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment of BSN nursing students. In the next chapter, I provide discussion on the interpretation of the findings, limitations of the study, recommendations, implications, and conclusions of the study. Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

Introduction

In this final chapter, I present the interpretation of the findings, limitations of the study, recommendations, implications, and a conclusion. The purpose of this quasi-experimental, single-group, pretest–posttest study was to determine what effect the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework, when used for simulation debriefing, has on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment in BSN nursing students. The goal of conducting the study was to advance the knowledge of a new debriefing technique's effect on learning outcomes and, more specifically, to test a cause-and-effect relationship of debriefing using the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework's effect on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment measurement model framework's effect on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment in BSN nursing students.

The importance of advancing the knowledge of teaching techniques that have an impact on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment in nursing education arose because, beginning in April 2023 and going forward, NCSBN's Next Generation NCLEX RN testing format has changed and will emphasize and assess clinical judgment through testing questions. The ongoing need to assess clinical judgment highlights the importance of assessing additional teaching strategies that have the potential to improve clinical judgment in undergraduate nursing education, prepare nursing students for the NCLEX-RN examination, and lead to an improvement in the care they provide to patients.

The key findings of the study identified a statistically significant mean score increase from pretest to posttest in clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment after the debriefing intervention using the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected and results indicate that simulation debriefing using the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework has an effect on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment. The statistically significant mean score increase from pretest to posttest also indicates that the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model debriefing framework positively influences clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment in BSN nursing students. Therefore, due to the improved scores from pretest to posttest, the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model debriefing framework is a new teaching strategy that should be considered for implementation as a debriefing process for nursing students that has the potential to positively influence learning outcomes.

Interpretation of the Findings

Hall and Tori (2017) found that a safe, structured debriefing following simulation is a best practice and an essential component of simulation-based learning and that debriefing requires a structured framework. My findings support the importance of debriefing following simulation with a structured debriefing framework and extend the knowledge related to a new structured debriefing framework, the NCSBN clinical measurement model framework, which led to improved clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment scores. Neill and Wotton (2011) corroborated that debriefing is essential to high-fidelity simulation education. Hines and Wood (2016) found that a standardized debriefing script based on Tanner's (2006) clinical judgment model led to improvements in students noticing, interpreting, and reflection in simulation learning experiences. Similarly, I found that using a debriefing script based on the NCSBN clinical measurement model framework shows learning improvement in clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment among nursing students.

My study supports the findings by Shinnick et al. (2011), Ryoo and Ha (2015), Lavoie et al. (2019), and Lee et al. (2020) that debriefing after a simulated experience should be emphasized and that debriefing has a positive effect on clinical performance. My results also revealed that posttest mean scores increased after debriefing the simulated experiences. My results were similar to Arthur et al.'s (2013) findings that debriefing immediately following the simulation leads to improvements in student knowledge in the areas of clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment results. Similarly, Forneris et al. (2015) found that nursing students who were debriefed using the debriefing for meaningful learning tool scored significantly higher in their clinical reasoning than students who were debriefed with the usual and customary debriefing, which is supported by my results. Levett-Jones and Lapkin (2014) reviewed 10 randomized controlled trials that included various debriefing methods such as post simulation debriefing, in-simulation debriefing, instructor facilitated debriefing, and video-assisted instructor debriefing and found a statistically significant improvement in performance of technical and nontechnical skills irrespective of the type of debriefing. Although I used the NCSBN clinical judgment model framework, my results support the results that nursing skills improved with debriefing because of the debriefing process.

As noted in the early designs of the NLN Jeffries simulation theory, a framework is needed to guide in the design and implementation and to evaluate and assess simulation nursing outcomes in nursing education, as well as to conduct research in an organized and systematic manner (Jeffries, 2005; NLN, 2016). The NLN Jeffries simulation theory supported and guided the study through the simulation design that included the debriefing and educational strategy of the NCSBN clinical measurement model framework for simulation debriefing and the simulation outcomes that examined the effect that the debriefing framework had on the participant learning outcomes of clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment.

Limitations of the Study

A limitation of the study was the lack of generalizability outside of the participant population due to the nonprobability convenience sampling method used (see Grove et al., 2013; LoBiondo-Wood & Haber, 2014). However, as noted by LoBiondo-Wood and Haber (2014), confidence in the findings can still be achieved through representativeness of the target population and external validity of the sampling. The target population exhibited in the participant population reflects the target population as a whole, as noted by the 2020 Nation Nursing Workforce Survey of RNs which indicated the population values for race were 81% as White/Caucasian, 7.2% Asian, 6.7% Black/African American, and 5.6% Hispanic/Latinx, and the gender distribution of RNs was 90.5% female and 9.4% male (Smiley et al., 2021). Because the participant population of the study reflected the target population, there is confidence in the findings of the sample. The sample size for the study was N = 40. The power analysis to obtain a power of 0.80, determined that the appropriate sample size was 34, which was calculated based on a t test analysis using the G*Power statistical power analyses program. A priori power analysis for means testing the difference between two dependent means or matched pairs with an alpha of 0.05 and a power of 0.80 signifies a small risk for a Type I error or the probability of rejecting the null hypothesis when the null hypothesis was correct (Warner, 2013).

A limitation of the one group pretest/posttest design is lack of a comparison group (see Grove et al., 2013). Selection bias was prevented by conducting the research on the same group of participants with a pretest and posttest (Campbell, 1957; Campbell & Stanley, 1966, as cited in Kaya, 2015). The Hawthorne effect or pretest/posttest sensitization is also a threat to external and internal validity (LoBiondo-Wood & Haber, 2014; Lund Research Ltd., 2022, 2022b). Pretest/posttest sensitization may have affected the posttest scores due to participants being sensitized to the debriefing topics because they were assessed before and after the debriefing intervention with the same pretest and posttest evaluation. Due to the testing effect exposure, there was the potential to influence the posttest scores in a positive way that may not only be due to the independent variable and therefore is noted as a limitation to the study.

Recommendations

Due to the potential generalizability limitation and the threat to external and internal validity, a recommendation for further research would include conducting the research with an experimental study design, such as a pretest–posttest control group design, instead of the quasi-experimental design. An experimental study design would eliminate the factors that could influence the dependent variable (clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment), other than the independent variable (debriefing process using the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework). The experimental study design would also prevent other influencers on the cause and effect relationship through randomization and specific control of the independent and dependent variables (Grove et al., 2013). An additional recommendation would be to conduct research on a larger population base to improve generalizability, by including other levels of nursing students such as those enrolled in associate degree nursing (ADN), masters programs, and RNs completing yearly competencies or educational simulations.

Implications

Positive Social Change

The study findings have the potential to influence positive social change by educating the next generation of nurses and improving the pedagogy of nursing education. The contribution to positive social change would be led by improving a student nurse's abilities to critically think, which will also lead to improved clinical reasoning and clinical judgment. Clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment are the hallmarks of, and key components of, student nurse comprehension. By strengthening a student nurse's comprehension ability, with the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework for simulation debriefing, clinical nursing skills will also potentially be improved. These critical nursing skills are essential to recognize key indicators, prioritize patient care, act in a timely manner, and evaluate outcomes to identify and act on patient conditions before their circumstances significantly deteriorate. Developing and enhancing critical nursing skills through the debriefing framework will lead to improved patient outcomes as student nurses transition to practice as RNs. Therefore, the study findings have the potential to positively affect social change by amplifying patient outcomes now and in the future.

For Practice

Due to the lack of research on debriefing methods, best practices, and those that improve learning outcomes, I analyzed the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model Debriefing framework and its effect on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment. While the study lacks generalizability outside of the BSN nursing student population, the recommendations for practice would be to continue to test the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework for debriefing simulation scenarios for undergraduate BSN nursing students. The NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework could also be used in other nursing student groups such as ADN and MSN nursing students, RNs, or other healthcare students or graduates for educational competencies.

Conclusions

Advancing the knowledge in teaching techniques that have an impact on clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment in nursing students continues to be an important factor throughout nursing education. Improving and adapting teaching techniques in nursing education has become a high priority because NCSBN's Next Generation NCLEX-RN testing format has changed as the testing question have begun to emphasize and assess clinical judgment. Results of the study highlight the new teaching and debriefing strategy, the NCSBN clinical judgment measurement model framework for debriefing that improve clinical reasoning, critical thinking, and clinical judgment scores in nursing students, and therefore, has the potential to improve patient outcomes.

References

- Adamson, K. A. (2011, May). Assessing the reliability of simulation evaluation instruments use in nursing education: A test of concept study (UMI No. 3460357)
 [Doctoral dissertation, Washington State University]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Adamson, K. A., & Kardong-Edgren, S. (2012, September/October). A method and resources for assessing the reliability of simulation evaluation instruments.
 Nursing Education Perspectives, 33(5), 334–339. <u>https://doi.org/10.5480/1536-5026-33.5.334</u>
- Adamson, K. A., Gubrud, P., Sideras, S., & Lasater, K. (2012). Assessing the reliability, validity, and use of the Lasater Clinical Judgment Rubric: Three approaches. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 51(2), 66–73. <u>https://doi.org/10.3928/01484834-20111130-03</u>
- Alfaro-LeFevre, R. (2017). Critical thinking, clinical reasoning, and clinical judgment: A practical approach (6th ed.). Elsevier.
- Alhaj, A., & Musallam, E. (2018). Debriefing quality evaluation in nursing simulationbased education: An integrative review. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, 16, 15– 24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2017.09.009</u>

Arthur, C., Levett-Jones, T., & Kable, A. (2013, November). Quality indicators for the design and implementation of simulation experiences: A Delphi study. *Nurse Education Today*, 33(11), 1357–1361. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2012.07.012</u>

Berkow, S., Virkstis, K., Stewart, J., Aronson, S., & Donohue, M. (2011, April).

Assessing individual frontline nurse critical thinking. *Journal of Nursing* Administration, 41(4), 168–171. https://doi.org/10.1097/NNA.0b013e3182118528

Betts, J., Muntean, W., Kim, D., Jorion, N., & Dickison, P. (2019). Building a method for writing clinical judgment items for entry-level nursing exams. *Journal of Applied Testing Technology*, 20(S2), 21–36. <u>https://www.ncsbn.org/publications/building-</u> a-method-for-writing-clinical-judgment-items-for-entry-Level-nursing-exams

- Bittner, N. P., Campbell, E., & Gunning, T. (2020, December). Impact of a dedicated education unit experience on critical thinking development in nursing students. *Nurse Educator*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/NNE.00000000000666</u>
- Bristol, T. J. (2019, October). Next gen learning for the new National Council Licensure
 Examination for Registered Nurses. *Teaching and Learning in Nursing*, 14(4),
 309–311. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.teln.2019.06.009</u>
- Brunt, B. A. (2005, March/April). Critical thinking in nursing: An integrated review. Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing, 36(2), 60–67. https://doi.org/10.3928/0022-0124-20050301-05
- Christian, A., & Krumwiede, N. (2013, September). Simulation enhances self-efficacy in the management of preeclampsia and eclampsia in obstetrical staff nurses.
 Clinical Simulation in Nursing, 9(9), e369–e377.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2012.05.006
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (5th ed.). Sage.

Dickison, P., Haerling, K. A., & Lasater, K. (2019, January). Integrating the National

Council of State Boards of Nursing Clinical Judgment Model into nursing educational frameworks. *Journal of Nursing Education*, *58*(2), 72–78. <u>https://doi.org/10.3928/01484834-20190122-03</u>

- Dreifuerst, K. T. (2009, March/April). The essentials of debriefing in simulation learning: A concept analysis. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, *30*(2), 109–114.
- Facione, P. A. (1990). Critical thinking: A statement of expert consensus for purposes of educational assessment and instruction. The Delphi report: Research findings and recommendations. American Philosophical Association.
- Farra, S. L., & Smith, S. J. (2019, July). Anxiety and stress in live disaster exercises. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, 45(4), 366–373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jen.2019.01.012
- Forneris, S. G., Neal, D. O., Tiffany, J., Kuehn, M. B., Meyer, H. M., Blazovich, L. M., Holland, A. E., & Smerillo, M. (2015, September/October). Enhancing clinical reasoning through simulation debriefing: A multisite study. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 36(5), 304–310. <u>https://doi.org/10.5480/15-1672</u>
- Gaba, D. M. (2004). The future vision of simulation in health care. *Quality and Safety in Health Care, 13*(Supplement 1), i2–i10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/qshc.2004.009878</u>
- Gardner, R. (2013). Introduction to debriefing. *Seminars in Perinatology*, *37*(3), 166–174. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.semperi.2013.02.008

Graham, C. L., Atz, T., Phillips, S., Newman, S., & Foronda, C. (2018, February).Exploration of a racially diverse sample of nursing students' satisfaction, selfefficacy, and perceptions of simulation using racially diverse manikins: A mixed methods pilot study. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, *15*, 19–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2017.08.007

Grove, S. K., Burns, N., & Gray, J. R. (2013). *The practice of nursing research: Appraisal, synthesis, and generation* (7th ed.). Elsevier Saunders.

Gururaja, R. P., Yang, T., Paige, J. T., & Chauvin, S. W. (2008). Examining the effectiveness of debriefing at the point of care in simulation-based operating room team training. In K. Henriksen, J. B. Battles, M. A. Keyes, & M. L. Grady (Eds.), *Advances in patient safety: New directions and alternative approaches* (Vol. 3: Performance and tools, pp. 1-18). Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality.

- Hall, K., & Tori, K. (2017, January). Best practice recommendations for debriefing in simulation-based education for Australian undergraduate nursing students: An integrative review. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, *13*(1), 39–50.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2016.10.006
- Harris, A. D., McGregor, J. C., Perencevich, E. N., Furuno, J. P., Zhu, J., Peterson, D. E., & Finkelstein, J. (2006, January). The use and interpretation of quasi-experimental studies in medical informatics. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*, 13(1), 16–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1197/jamia.M1749</u>
- Hayden, J. K., Smiley, R. A., Alexander, M., Kardong-Edgren, S., & Jeffries, P. R.
 (2014, July Supplement). The NCSBN National Simulation Study: A longitudinal, randomized, controlled study replacing clinical hours with simulation in prelicensure nursing education. *Journal of Nursing Regulation*, 5(2), 1–66.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/S2155-8256(15)30062-4

- Hensel, D., & Billings, D. M. (2020). Strategies to teach the National Council of State Boards of Nursing Clinical Judgment Model. *Nurse Educator*, 45(3), 128–132. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/NNE.00000000000773</u>
- Hines, C. B., & Wood, F. G. (2016). Clinical judgment scripts as a strategy to foster clinical judgments. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 55(12), 691–695. <u>https://doi.org/10.3928/01484834-20161114-05</u>
- INACSL Standards Committee. (2016, December). INACSL standards of best practice: Simulation debriefing. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, 12(S), S21–S25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2016.09.008</u>
- INACSL Standards Committee. (2016a, December). INACSL standards of best practice: Simulation-Simulation design. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, 12(S), S5–S12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2016.09.005</u>
- INACSL Standards Committee. (2016b, December). INACSL standards of best practice: Simulation. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, *12*(S), S48–50.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2016.10.001

- INACSL Standards Committee. (2016c, December). INACSL standards of best practice: Simulation-Simulation glossary. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, 12(S), S39–S47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2016.09.012</u>
- INACSL Standards Committee. (2016d, December). INACSL standards of best practice: Simulation-Simulation glossary. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, 12(S), S39–S47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2016.09.012</u>

Institute of Medicine Committee on the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation on the Future

of Nursing. (2011). *The future of nursing: Leading change, advancing health*. The National Academies Press.

- Jarvill, M., Jenkins, S., Akman, O., Astroth, K. S., Pohl, C., & Jacobs, P. J. (2018, January). Effect of simulation on nursing students' medication administration competence. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, 14, 3–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2017.08.001
- Jeffries, P. R. (2005, March/April). A framework for designing, implementing, and evaluating simulations used as teaching strategies in nursing. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 26(2), 96–103.
- Jeffries, P. R., Rodgers, B., & Adamson, K. (2015, September/October). NLN Jeffries simulation theory: Brief narrative description. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 36(5), 292–293. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00024776-201509000-00004</u>
- Kaya, C. (2015). Internal validity: A must in research designs. *Educational Research and Reviews*, 10(2), 111–118. https://doi.org/10.5897/ERR2014.1835
- Kim, M., & Kim, S. (2017, May). Debriefing practices in simulation-based nursing education in South Korea. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, 13(5), 201–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2017.01.008
- Koharchik, L., Caputi, L., Robb, M., & Culleiton, A. L. (2015, January). Fostering clinical reasoning in nursing students. *American Journal of Nursing*, *115*(1), 58–

61. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.NAJ.0000459638.68657.9b

Lasater, K. (2007, November). Clinical judgment development: Using simulation to create an assessment rubric. *Journal of Nursing Education*, *46*(11), 496–503.

https://doi.org/10.3928/01484834-20071101-04

Lasater, K. (2011, March). Clinical judgment: The last frontier for evaluation. *Nurse Education in Practice*, *11*(2), 86–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2010.11.013

Lavoie, P., Pepin, J. C., & Clarke, S. P. (2019, October). Debriefing approaches for highfidelity simulations and outcomes related to clinical judgment in baccalaureate nursing students. *Collegian*, 26(5), 514–521.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colegn.2019.01.001

- Lee, D. S., Abdullah, K. L., Subramanian, P., Bachmann, R. T., & Ong, S. L. (2017, May). An integrated review of the correlation between critical thinking ability and clinical decision-making in nursing. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 26, 4065–4079. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.13901</u>
- Lee, J., Lee, H., Kim, S., Choi, M., Ko, I. S., Bae, J., & Kim, S. H. (2020, April).
 Debriefing methods and learning outcomes in simulation nursing education: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nurse Education Today*, 87, 1–12.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2020.104345
- Levett-Jones, T., & Lapkin, S. (2014, June). A systematic review of the effectiveness of simulation debriefing in health professional education. *Nurse Education Today*, 34(6), e58–e63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2013.09.020</u>
- Levett-Jones, T., Hoffman, K., Dempsey, J., Jeong, S. Y-S., Noble, D., Norton, C. A., Roche, J., Hickey, N. (2010, August). The "five rights' of clinical reasoning: An educational model to enhance nursing students' ability to identify and manage clinically 'at risk' patients. *Nurse Education Today*, *30*(6), 515–520.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2009.10.020

- Liaw, S. Y., Rashasegaran, A., Wong, L. F., Deneen, C. C., Cooper, S., Levett-Jones, T., Goh, H. S., Ignacio, J. (2018, March). Development and psychometric testing of a clinical reasoning evaluation simulation tool (CREST) for assessing nursing students' abilities to recognize and respond to clinical deterioration. *Nurse Education Today*, 62, 74–79. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2017.12.009</u>
- Lipsky, M. S., Cone, C. J., Watson, S., Lawrence, P. T., & Lutfyya, M. N. (2019).
 Mastery learning in a bachelor's of nursing program: The Roseman University of Health Sciences experience. *BMC Nursing*, *18*(52), 1–10.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-019-0371-x
- LoBiondo-Wood, G., & Haber, J. (2014). *Nursing research: Methods and critical appraisal for evidence-based practice* (8th ed.). Elsevier Mosby.
- Lund Research Ltd. (2022, April 30). Internal validity.

https://dissertation.laerd.com/internal-validity.php#

Lund Research Ltd. (2022a, April 30). Threats to external validity.

https://dissertation.laerd.com/external-validity-p3.php

Lund Research Ltd. (2022b, April 30). *External validity*. <u>https://dissertation.laerd.com/external-validity.php</u>

Lund Research Ltd. (2022c, April 30). *Paired-samples t-test: SPSS statistics*. https://statistics.laerd.com/premium/spss/pstt/paired-samples-t-test-in-spss-3.php

Manetti, W. (2018, September/October). Evaluating the clinical judgment of prelicensure nursing students in the clinical setting. *Nurse Educator*, *43*(5), 272–276.

https://doi.org/10.1097/NNE.00000000000489

Mariani, B., Cantrell, M. A., & Meakim, C. (2014, September/October). Nurse educators' perceptions about structured debriefing in clinical simulation. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 35(5), 330–331. <u>https://doi.org/10.5480/13-1190.1</u>

Mayville, M. L. (2011, March). Debriefing: The essential step in simulation. *Newborn* and Infant Nursing Reviews, 11(1), 35–39.

https://doi.org/10.1053/j.nainr.2010.12.012

- Meakim, C., Boese, T., Decker, S., Franklin, A. E., Gloe, D., Lioce, L., Sando, C. R., Borum, J. C. (2013). Standards of best practice: Simulation; Standard I: Terminology. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, 9(6), S3–S11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2013.04.001
- Miraglia, R., & Asselin, M. E. (2015, September/October). The Lasater Clinical Judgment Rubric as a framework to enhance clinical judgment in novice and experienced nurses. *Journal for Nurses in Professional Development*, *31*(5), 284–291. https://doi.org/10.1097/NND.00000000000209
- National League for Nursing. (2016). *The NLN Jeffries simulation theory*. (P. R. Jeffries, Ed.) Wolters Kluwer.

NCSBN. (2017, Fall). High-level NGN overview. Next Generation NCLEX News, pp. 1-

3. https://www.ncsbn.org/11805.htm

NCSBN. (2019, Fall). Approved NGN item types. Next Generation NCLEX News, pp. 1-

4. <u>https://www.ncsbn.org/14156.htm</u>

NCSBN. (2019, Winter). The NGN Clinical Judgment Measurement Model. Next

Generation NCLEX News, pp. 1–7. https://www.ncsbn.org/13342.htm

- NCSBN. (2020, Spring). The NGN case study. *Next Generation NCLEX News*, pp. 1–7. https://www.ncsbn.org/14425.htm
- NCSBN. (2021, Spring). Next generation NCLEX: Stand-alone items. *Next Generation NCLEX News*, pp. 1–5. <u>https://www.ncsbn.org/15800.htm</u>
- Neill, M. A., & Wotton, K. (2011). High-fidelity simulation debriefing in nursing education: A literature review. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, 7(5), e161–e168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2011.02.001</u>
- Norman, G. (2010). Likert scales, levels of measurement and the "laws" of statistics. *Advances in Health Sciences Education*, 15(5), 625–632. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10459-010-9222-y</u>
- Palaganas, J. C., Fey, M., & Simon, R. (2016, February). Structured debriefing in simulation-based education. AACN Advanced Critical Care, 27(1), 78–85. <u>https://doi.org/10.4037/aacnacc2016328</u>
- Pallant, J. (2016). A step by step guide to data analysis using IBM SPSS (6th ed.).McGraw Hill Education.
- Riddell, T. (2007, March). Critical assumptions: Thinking critically about critical thinking. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 46(3), 121–126. https://doi.org/10.3928/01484834-20070301-06
- Riegel, F., & Crossetti, M. d. (2018, July 23). Theoretical frameworks and instruments for evaluation of critical thinking in nursing and education. *Revista Gaucha de Enfermagem, 39*, 1–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/1983-1447.2018.2017-0097</u>

- Rutherford-Hemming, T., Lioce, L., Kardong-Edgren, S., Jeffries, P. R., & Sittner, B.
 (2016, January). After the National Council of State Boards of Nursing simulation study--Recommendations and next steps. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, *12*(1), 2–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2015.10.010
- Ryoo, E. N., & Ha, E.-H. (2015, December). The importance of debriefing in simulationbased learning. *Computers Informatics Nursing*, 33(12), 538–545. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/CIN.00000000000194</u>
- Sawyer, T., Eppich, W., Brett-Fleegler, M., Grant, V., & Cheng, A. (2016, June). More than one way to debrief: A critical review of healthcare simulation debriefing methods. *Simulation in Healthcare: Journal of the Society for Simulation in Healthcare*, 11(3), 209–217. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/SIH.000000000000148</u>
- Shalev, A. J. (1993). Historical group debriefing following combat. U.S. Army Medical Research & Development Command, Fort Detrick, Frederick (MD). http://www.dtic.mil/cgi-bin/GetTRDoc?AD=ADA267287
- Shin, K., Jung, D. Y., Shin, S., & Kim, M. S. (2006, June). Critical thinking dispositions and skills of senior nursing students in associate, baccalaureate, and RN-to-BSN programs. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 45(6), 233–237. <u>https://doi.org/10.3928/01484834-20060601-08</u>
- Shinnick, M. A., Woo, M., Horwich, T. B., & Steadman, R. (2011, May). Debriefing: The most important component in simulation? *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, 7(3), e105–e111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2010.11.005</u>
- Smiley, R. A., Ruttinger, C., Oliveira, C. M., Hudson, L. R., Allegeyer, R., Reneau, K.

A., Silvestre, J H., Alexander, M. (2021, April). The 2020 National Nursing Workforce Survey. Journal of Nursing Regulation, 12(Supplement 1), S1–S96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2155-8256(21)00027-2</u>

Sommers, C. L. (2018, May). Measurement of critical thinking, clinical reasoning, and clinical judgment in culturally diverse nursing students - A literature review. *Nurse Education in Practice, 30*, 91–100.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2018.04.002

- Sportsman, S. (2018, November 13). *Next generation NCLEX (NGN): A brief summary*. Collaborative Momentum Consulting: Moving Forward Together <u>https://collaborativemomentum.com/2018/11/13/next-generation-nclex-ngn-a-brief-summary/</u>
- Surucu, L., & Maslakci, A. (2020). Validity and reliability in quantitative research. Business & Management Studies: An International Journal, 8(3), 2694–2726. <u>https://doi.org/10.15295/bmij.v8i3.1540</u>
- Tanner, C. A. (2006, June). Thinking like a nurse: A research-based model of clinical judgment in nursing. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 45(6), 204–211. https://doi.org/10.3928/01484834-20060601-04
- Turkel, M. C., Marvelous, J., Morrison, D., & Singletary, B. (2016, July-August).
 Describing self-reported assessments of critical thinking among practicing medical-surgical registered nurses. *MEDSURG Nursing*, 25(4), 244–250.
- Warner, R. M. (2013). Applied statistics: From bivariate through multivariate techniques(2nd ed.). Sage Publications, Inc.

- Waznonis, A. R. (2014). Methods and evaluations for simulation debriefing in nursing education. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 53(8), 459–465. <u>https://doi.org/10.3928/01484834-20140722-13</u>
- Waznonis, A. R. (2015, February). Simulation debriefing practices in traditional baccalaureate nursing programs: National survey results. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, *11*(2), 110–119. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2014.10.002</u>

Appendix A: Second Iteration of the Simulation Model of the NLN Jeffries Simulation

Framework Permission

WOLTERS KLUWER HEALTH, INC. LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS Oct 10, 2021

This Agreement between Deborah Brester ("You") and Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. ("Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc.") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	5104441165509
License date	Jul 08, 2021
Licensed Content Publisher	Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc.
Licensed Content Publication	Nursing Education Perspectives
Licensed Content Title	A FRAMEWORK for Designing, Implementing, and Evaluating: Simulations Used as Teaching Strategies in Nursing
Licensed Content Author	PAMELA JEFFRIES
Licensed Content Date	Mar 1, 2005
Licensed Content Volume	26
Licensed Content Issue	2
Type of Use	Dissertation/Thesis
Requestor type	University/College
Sponsorship	No Sponsorship
Format	Print and electronic
Will this be posted online?	Yes, on a secure website
Portion	Figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
Author of this Wolters Kluwer article	No
Will you be translating?	No
-------------------------------------	--
Intend to modify/change the content	No
Title	Facilitation of Student Nurse Learning through Simulation Debriefing
Institution name	Walden University
Expected presentation date	Aug 2021
Portions	Figure 1. Simulation Model Image on page 97.
	Deborah Brester
Requestor Location	
	United States

Publisher Tax ID Total Terms and Conditions Attn: Deborah Brester 13-2932696 0.00 USD

Wolters Kluwer Health Inc. Terms and Conditions

- 1. **Duration of License:** Permission is granted for a one time use only. Rights herein do not apply to future reproductions, editions, revisions, or other derivative works. This permission shall be effective as of the date of execution by the parties for the maximum period of 12 months and should be renewed after the term expires.
 - i. When content is to be republished in a book or journal the validity of this agreement should be the life of the book edition or journal issue.
 - ii. When content is licensed for use on a website, internet, intranet, or any publicly accessible site (not including a journal or book), you agree to remove the material from such site after 12 months, or request to renew your permission license
- 2. <u>Credit Line:</u> A credit line must be prominently placed and include: For book content: the author(s), title of book, edition, copyright holder, year of publication; For journal content: the author(s), titles of article, title of

journal, volume number, issue number, inclusive pages and website URL to the journal page; If a journal is published by a learned society the credit line must include the details of that society.

- 3. <u>Warranties:</u> The requestor warrants that the material shall not be used in any manner which may be considered derogatory to the title, content, authors of the material, or to Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc.
- 4. <u>Indemnity:</u> You hereby indemnify and hold harmless Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. and its respective officers, directors, employees and agents, from and against any and all claims, costs, proceeding or demands arising out of your unauthorized use of the Licensed Material
- 5. <u>Geographical Scope:</u> Permission granted is non-exclusive and is valid throughout the world in the English language and the languages specified in the license.
- 6. <u>**Copy of Content:**</u> Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. cannot supply the requestor with the original artwork, high-resolution images, electronic files or a clean copy of content.
- <u>Validity:</u> Permission is valid if the borrowed material is original to a Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. imprint (J.B Lippincott, Lippincott-Raven Publishers, Williams & Wilkins, Lea & Febiger, Harwal, Rapid Science, Little Brown & Company, Harper & Row Medical, American Journal of Nursing Co, and Urban & Schwarzenberg - English Language, Raven Press, Paul Hoeber, Springhouse, Ovid), and the Anatomical Chart Company
- 8. <u>Third Party Material:</u> This permission does not apply to content that is credited to publications other than Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. or its Societies. For images credited to non-Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. books or journals, you must obtain permission from the source referenced in the figure or table legend or credit line before making any use of the image(s), table(s) or other content.
- 9. <u>Adaptations:</u> Adaptations are protected by copyright. For images that have been adapted, permission must be sought from the rightsholder of the original material and the rightsholder of the adapted material.
- 10. <u>Modifications:</u> Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. material is not permitted to be modified or adapted without written approval from Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. with the exception of text size or color. The adaptation should be credited as follows: Adapted with permission from Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc.: [the author(s), title of book, edition, copyright holder, year of publication] or [the author(s), titles of article, title of journal, volume number, issue number, inclusive pages and website URL to the journal

page].

- 11. Full Text Articles: Republication of full articles in English is prohibited.
- 12. <u>Branding and Marketing:</u> No drug name, trade name, drug logo, or trade logo can be included on the same page as material borrowed from *Diseases of the Colon & Rectum, Plastic Reconstructive Surgery, Obstetrics & Gynecology (The Green Journal), Critical Care Medicine, Pediatric Critical Care Medicine, the American Heart Association publications and the American Academy of Neurology publications.*
- 13. <u>Open Access</u>: Unless you are publishing content under the same Creative Commons license, the following statement must be added when reprinting material in Open Access journals: "The Creative Commons license does not apply to this content. Use of the material in any format is prohibited without written permission from the publisher, Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. Please contact <u>permissions@lww.com</u> for further information."
- 14. **Translations:** The following disclaimer must appear on all translated copies: Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. and its Societies take no responsibility for the accuracy of the translation from the published English original and are not liable for any errors which may occur.
- 15. <u>Published Ahead of Print (PAP)</u>: Articles in the PAP stage of publication can be cited using the online publication date and the unique DOI number.
 - i. Disclaimer: Articles appearing in the PAP section have been peerreviewed and accepted for publication in the relevant journal and posted online before print publication. Articles appearing as PAP may contain statements, opinions, and information that have errors in facts, figures, or interpretation. Any final changes in manuscripts will be made at the time of print publication and will be reflected in the final electronic version of the issue. Accordingly, Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc., the editors, authors and their respective employees are not responsible or liable for the use of any such inaccurate or misleading data, opinion or information contained in the articles in this section.
- 16. <u>Termination of Contract:</u> Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. must be notified within 90 days of the original license date if you opt not to use the requested material.
- 17. <u>Waived Permission Fee:</u> Permission fees that have been waived are not subject to future waivers, including similar requests or renewing a license.
- 18. <u>Contingent on payment:</u> You may exercise these rights licensed immediately upon issuance of the license, however until full payment is

received either by the publisher or our authorized vendor, this license is not valid. If full payment is not received on a timely basis, then any license preliminarily granted shall be deemed automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Further, in the event that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc.'s other billing and payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement and publisher reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.

- 19. <u>STM Signatories Only:</u> Any permission granted for a particular edition will apply to subsequent editions and for editions in other languages, provided such editions are for the work as a whole in situ and do not involve the separate exploitation of the permitted illustrations or excerpts. Please view: <u>STM Permissions Guidelines</u>
- 20. <u>Warranties and Obligations:</u> LICENSOR further represents and warrants that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, LICENSEE's contemplated use of the Content as represented to LICENSOR does not infringe any valid rights to any third party.
- 21. **Breach:** If LICENSEE fails to comply with any provisions of this agreement, LICENSOR may serve written notice of breach of LICENSEE and, unless such breach is fully cured within fifteen (15) days from the receipt of notice by LICENSEE, LICENSOR may thereupon, at its option, serve notice of cancellation on LICENSEE, whereupon this Agreement shall immediately terminate.
- 22. <u>Assignment:</u> License conveyed hereunder by the LICENSOR shall not be assigned or granted in any manner conveyed to any third party by the LICENSEE without the consent in writing to the LICENSOR.
- 23. Governing Law: The laws of The State of New York shall govern interpretation of this Agreement and all rights and liabilities arising hereunder.
- 24. **Unlawful:** If any provision of this Agreement shall be found unlawful or otherwise legally unenforceable, all other conditions and provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

For Copyright Clearance Center / RightsLink Only:

- 1. <u>Service Description for Content Services:</u> Subject to these terms of use, any terms set forth on the particular order, and payment of the applicable fee, you may make the following uses of the ordered materials:
 - i. <u>Content Rental:</u> You may access and view a single electronic copy of the materials ordered for the time period designated at the time the order is placed. Access to the materials will be provided through a dedicated content viewer or other portal, and access will be discontinued upon expiration of the designated time period. An order for Content Rental does not include any rights to print, download, save, create additional copies, to distribute or to reuse in any way the full text or parts of the materials.
 - ii. <u>Content Purchase:</u> You may access and download a single electronic copy of the materials ordered. Copies will be provided by email or by such other means as publisher may make available from time to time. An order for Content Purchase does not include any rights to create additional copies or to distribute copies of the materials

Other Terms and Conditions:

v1.18

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

Appendix B: NLN Jeffries Simulation Theory Figure Permission

----- Original Message ------

Sent: 7/8/2021 9:00 PM To: permissions@lww.com Subject: Permission Request

To whom it may concern,

I am in the process of writing my research paper for my dissertation at Walden University and I would like to include the figures for the First iteration of the Simulation Model of The NLN Jeffries Simulation Framework; Second iteration of the Simulation Model of The NLN Jeffries Simulation Framework; Third iteration of The NLN Jeffries Simulation Framework; Fourth iteration of the NLN Jeffries Simulation Framework; and the NLN Jeffries Simulation Theory that are included as Figure 1.1, 1.2, 1.3, 1.4, and 3.1 in the 2016 book titled "The NLN Jeffries Simulation Theory". Here is the reference to the book that these figures are found in: NLN. (2016). The NLN Jeffries simulation theory. (P. R. Jeffries, Ed.) Philadelphia, PA: Wolters Kluwer. Here is the ISBN: 9781934758243.

This theory forms the theoretical basis for my research study on simulation debriefing and I would like to include these figures in my dissertation. Thank you for your attention to my question about getting permission to include these figures in my dissertation.

Sincerely, Deborah Brester MSN RN

Thu 7/15/2021 1:38 PM To: Deborah Brester

Hello Deborah.

Thank you for contacting Wolters Kluwer. We will be able to grant you gratis permission to use Figure 3.1 from NLN/Jeffries Simulation Theory in your thesis. Permission to use the other 4 figures can be granted for a fee of \$75 each.

If you'd like to move forward, please confirm that you accept the fee. At that time we will also need to have the following information:

Mailing address Phone number Title of your thesis Formats needed (print, electronic, both) Will your thesis be posted online, and where? Is that site password-protected?

Thank you Deborah. We look forward to hearing back from you.

Wolters Kluwer Permissions

Wolters Kluwer Two Commerce Square 2001 Market Street Philadelphia, PA 19103 www.wolterskluwerhealth.com www.lww.com

Confidentiality Notice: This email and its attachments (if any) contain confidential information of the sender. The information is intended only for the use by the direct addresses of the original sender of this email. If you are not an intended recipient of the original sender (or responsible for delivering the message to such person), you are hereby notified that any review, disclosure, copying, distribution or the taking of any action in reliance of the contents of and attachments to this email is strictly prohibited. If you have received this email in error, please immediately notify the sender at the address show herein and permanently delete any copies of this email (digital or paper) in your possession.

Appendix C: Sociodemographic Questionnaire

What is your age? _____ Yrs.

What is your gender?

Male _____ Female _____ Prefer not to specify _____

What is your ethnic group?

Caucasian	African American
Hispanic	American Indian
Asian Pacific	Islander
Other (specify)	
•••••	

Marital Status?

Single _____ Married _____

What prior education do you hold? (Please select all that apply)

 High School Graduate _____

 GED ______

 Prior undergraduate courses without completion for a degree

LPN/LVN _____

Associate Degree in other field than nursing (specify) ______ BS/BA in other field than nursing (specify) _____ Doctorate in other field than nursing (specify) _____

What current or previous job experience do you have in healthcare?

CNA/Nursing assistant _____ Other healthcare work experience (specify) _____

Appendix D: LCJR Permission

ELSEVIER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS Sep 22, 2021

This Agreement between Deborah Brester ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	5154250988898
License date	Sep 22, 2021
Licensed Content Publisher	Elsevier
Licensed Content Publication	Nurse Education in Practice
Licensed Content Title	Clinical judgment: The last frontier for evaluation
Licensed Content Author	Kathie Lasater
Licensed Content Date	Mar 1, 2011
Licensed Content Volume	11
Licensed Content Issue	2
Licensed Content Pages	7
Start Page	86
End Page	92
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
Format	both print and electronic
Are you the author of this Elsevier article?	No
Will you be translating?	No
Title	Facilitation of Student Nurse Learning through Simulation Debriefing
Institution name	Walden University

Expected presentation date Portions

Feb 2022 Table 1. Lasater Clinical Judgment Rubric. Deborah Brester

Requestor Location

Publisher Tax ID Total Terms and Conditions United States Attn: Deborah Brester 98-0397604 0.00 USD

INTRODUCTION

1. The publisher for this copyrighted material is Elsevier. By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the Billing and Payment terms and conditions established by Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. ("CCC"), at the time that you opened your Rightslink account and that are available at any time at http://myaccount.copyright.com).

GENERAL TERMS

2. Elsevier hereby grants you permission to reproduce the aforementioned material subject to the terms and conditions indicated.

3. Acknowledgement: If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgement to another source, permission must also be sought from that source. If such permission is not obtained then that material may not be included in your publication/copies. Suitable acknowledgement to the source must be made, either as a footnote or in a reference list at the end of your publication, as follows:

"Reprinted from Publication title, Vol /edition number, Author(s), Title of article / title of chapter, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier [OR APPLICABLE SOCIETY COPYRIGHT OWNER]." Also Lancet special credit - "Reprinted from The Lancet, Vol. number, Author(s), Title of article,

Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier."

4. Reproduction of this material is confined to the purpose and/or media for which permission is hereby given.

5. Altering/Modifying Material: Not Permitted. However figures and illustrations may be altered/adapted minimally to serve your work. Any other abbreviations, additions, deletions and/or any other alterations shall be made only with prior written authorization of Elsevier Ltd. (Please contact Elsevier's permissions helpdesk <u>here</u>). No modifications can be made to any Lancet figures/tables and they must be reproduced in full.

6. If the permission fee for the requested use of our material is waived in this instance, please be advised that your future requests for Elsevier materials may attract a fee.

7. Reservation of Rights: Publisher reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

8. License Contingent Upon Payment: While you may exercise the rights licensed immediately upon issuance of the license at the end of the licensing process for the transaction, provided that you have disclosed complete and accurate details of your proposed use, no license is finally effective unless and until full payment is received from you (either by publisher or by CCC) as provided in CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. If full payment is not received on a timely basis, then any license preliminarily granted shall be deemed automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Further, in the event that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement and publisher reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.

9. Warranties: Publisher makes no representations or warranties with respect to the licensed material.

10. Indemnity: You hereby indemnify and agree to hold harmless publisher and CCC, and their respective officers, directors, employees and agents, from and against any and all claims arising out of your use of the licensed material other than as specifically authorized pursuant to this license.

11. No Transfer of License: This license is personal to you and may not be sublicensed, assigned, or transferred by you to any other person without publisher's written permission.

12. No Amendment Except in Writing: This license may not be amended except in a writing signed by both parties (or, in the case of publisher, by CCC on publisher's behalf).

13. Objection to Contrary Terms: Publisher hereby objects to any terms contained in any purchase order, acknowledgment, check endorsement or other writing prepared by you, which terms are inconsistent with these terms and conditions or CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. These terms and conditions, together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein), comprise the entire agreement between you and publisher (and CCC) concerning this licensing transaction. In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, these terms and conditions.

14. Revocation: Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center may deny the permissions described in this License at their sole discretion, for any reason or no reason, with a full refund payable to you. Notice of such denial will be made using the contact information provided by you. Failure to receive such notice will not alter or invalidate the denial. In no event will Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center be responsible or liable for any costs, expenses or damage incurred by you as a result of a denial of your permission request, other than a refund of the amount(s) paid by you to Elsevier and/or Copyright Clearance Center for denied permissions.

LIMITED LICENSE

The following terms and conditions apply only to specific license types:

15. Translation: This permission is granted for non-exclusive world English

rights only unless your license was granted for translation rights. If you licensed translation rights you may only translate this content into the languages you requested. A professional translator must perform all translations and reproduce the content word for word preserving the integrity of the article.

16. **Posting licensed content on any Website**: The following terms and conditions apply as follows: Licensing material from an Elsevier journal: All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image; A hyper-text must be included to the Homepage of the journal from which you are licensing at

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxxx or the Elsevier homepage for books at http://www.elsevier.com; Central Storage: This license does not include permission for a scanned version of the material to be stored in a central repository such as that provided by Heron/XanEdu.

Licensing material from an Elsevier book: A hyper-text link must be included to the Elsevier homepage at <u>http://www.elsevier.com</u>. All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image.

Posting licensed content on Electronic reserve: In addition to the above the following clauses are applicable: The web site must be password-protected and made available only to bona fide students registered on a relevant course. This permission is granted for 1 year only. You may obtain a new license for future website posting.

17. **For journal authors:** the following clauses are applicable in addition to the above:

Preprints:

A preprint is an author's own write-up of research results and analysis, it has not been peer-reviewed, nor has it had any other value added to it by a publisher (such as formatting, copyright, technical enhancement etc.).

Authors can share their preprints anywhere at any time. Preprints should not be added to or enhanced in any way in order to appear more like, or to substitute for, the final versions of articles however authors can update their preprints on arXiv or RePEc with their Accepted Author Manuscript (see below).

If accepted for publication, we encourage authors to link from the preprint to their formal publication via its DOI. Millions of researchers have access to the formal publications on ScienceDirect, and so links will help users to find, access, cite and use the best available version. Please note that Cell Press, The Lancet and some society-owned have different preprint policies. Information on these policies is available on the journal homepage.

Accepted Author Manuscripts: An accepted author manuscript is the manuscript of an article that has been accepted for publication and which typically includes author-incorporated changes suggested during submission, peer review and editor-author communications.

Authors can share their accepted author manuscript:

- immediately
 - via their non-commercial person homepage or blog
 - by updating a preprint in arXiv or RePEc with the accepted manuscript
 - via their research institute or institutional repository for internal institutional uses or as part of an invitation-only research collaboration work-group
 - directly by providing copies to their students or to research collaborators for their personal use
 - for private scholarly sharing as part of an invitation-only work group on commercial sites with which Elsevier has an agreement
- After the embargo period
 - via non-commercial hosting platforms such as their institutional repository
 - \circ via commercial sites with which Elsevier has an agreement

In all cases accepted manuscripts should:

- link to the formal publication via its DOI
- bear a CC-BY-NC-ND license this is easy to do
- if aggregated with other manuscripts, for example in a repository or other site, be shared in alignment with our hosting policy not be added to or enhanced in any way to appear more like, or to substitute for, the

published journal article.

Published journal article (JPA): A published journal article (PJA) is the definitive final record of published research that appears or will appear in the journal and embodies all value-adding publishing activities including peer review co-ordination, copy-editing, formatting, (if relevant) pagination and online enrichment.

Policies for sharing publishing journal articles differ for subscription and gold open access articles:

<u>Subscription Articles:</u> If you are an author, please share a link to your article rather than the full-text. Millions of researchers have access to the formal publications on ScienceDirect, and so links will help your users to find, access, cite, and use the best available version.

Theses and dissertations which contain embedded PJAs as part of the formal submission can be posted publicly by the awarding institution with DOI links back to the formal publications on ScienceDirect.

If you are affiliated with a library that subscribes to ScienceDirect you have additional private sharing rights for others' research accessed under that agreement. This includes use for classroom teaching and internal training at the institution (including use in course packs and courseware programs), and inclusion of the article for grant funding purposes.

<u>Gold Open Access Articles:</u> May be shared according to the author-selected end-user license and should contain a <u>CrossMark logo</u>, the end user license, and a DOI link to the formal publication on ScienceDirect.

Please refer to Elsevier's posting policy for further information.

18. For book authors the following clauses are applicable in addition to the above: Authors are permitted to place a brief summary of their work online only. You are not allowed to download and post the published electronic version of your chapter, nor may you scan the printed edition to create an electronic version. **Posting to a repository:** Authors are permitted to post a summary of their chapter only in their institution's repository.

19. Thesis/Dissertation: If your license is for use in a thesis/dissertation your

thesis may be submitted to your institution in either print or electronic form. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission. These requirements include permission for the Library and Archives of Canada to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis and include permission for Proquest/UMI to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission. Theses and dissertations which contain embedded PJAs as part of the formal submission can be posted publicly by the awarding institution with DOI links back to the formal publications on ScienceDirect.

Elsevier Open Access Terms and Conditions

You can publish open access with Elsevier in hundreds of open access journals or in nearly 2000 established subscription journals that support open access publishing. Permitted third party re-use of these open access articles is defined by the author's choice of Creative Commons user license. See our <u>open access</u> <u>license policy</u> for more information.

Terms & Conditions applicable to all Open Access articles published with Elsevier:

Any reuse of the article must not represent the author as endorsing the adaptation of the article nor should the article be modified in such a way as to damage the author's honour or reputation. If any changes have been made, such changes must be clearly indicated.

The author(s) must be appropriately credited and we ask that you include the end user license and a DOI link to the formal publication on ScienceDirect.

If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgement to another source it is the responsibility of the user to ensure their reuse complies with the terms and conditions determined by the rights holder.

Additional Terms & Conditions applicable to each Creative Commons user license:

CC BY: The CC-BY license allows users to copy, to create extracts, abstracts

and new works from the Article, to alter and revise the Article and to make commercial use of the Article (including reuse and/or resale of the Article by commercial entities), provided the user gives appropriate credit (with a link to the formal publication through the relevant DOI), provides a link to the license, indicates if changes were made and the licensor is not represented as endorsing the use made of the work. The full details of the license are available at http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0.

CC BY NC SA: The CC BY-NC-SA license allows users to copy, to create extracts, abstracts and new works from the Article, to alter and revise the Article, provided this is not done for commercial purposes, and that the user gives appropriate credit (with a link to the formal publication through the relevant DOI), provides a link to the license, indicates if changes were made and the licensor is not represented as endorsing the use made of the work. Further, any new works must be made available on the same conditions. The full details of the license are available at <u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0</u>.

CC BY NC ND: The CC BY-NC-ND license allows users to copy and distribute the Article, provided this is not done for commercial purposes and further does not permit distribution of the Article if it is changed or edited in any way, and provided the user gives appropriate credit (with a link to the formal publication through the relevant DOI), provides a link to the license, and that the licensor is not represented as endorsing the use made of the work. The full details of the license are available at <u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0</u>. Any commercial reuse of Open Access articles published with a CC BY NC SA or CC BY NC ND license requires permission from Elsevier and will be subject to a fee.

Commercial reuse includes:

- Associating advertising with the full text of the Article
- Charging fees for document delivery or access
- Article aggregation
- Systematic distribution via e-mail lists or share buttons

Posting or linking by commercial companies for use by customers of those companies.

20. Other Conditions:

v1.10

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

Appendix E: CREST Permission

ELSEVIER LICENSE
TERMS AND CONDITIONS
Sep 20, 2021

This Agreement between Deborah Brester ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	5153031245537
License date	Sep 20, 2021
Licensed Content Publisher	Elsevier
Licensed Content Publication	Nurse Education Today
Licensed Content Title	Development and psychometric testing of a Clinical Reasoning Evaluation Simulation Tool (CREST) for assessing nursing students' abilities to recognize and respond to clinical deterioration
Licensed Content Author	Sok Ying Liaw,Ahtherai Rashasegaran,Lai Fun Wong,Christopher Charles Deneen,Simon Cooper,Tracy Levett-Jones,Hongli Sam Goh,Jeanette Ignacio
Licensed Content Date	Mar 1, 2018
Licensed Content Volume	62
Licensed Content Issue	n/a
Licensed Content Pages	6
Start Page	74
End Page	79
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
Format	both print and electronic

Are you the author of this Elsevier article?	No
Will you be translating?	No
Title	Facilitation of Student Nurse Learning through Simulation Debriefing
Institution name	Walden University
Expected presentation date	Feb 2022
Portions	Appendix AThe CREST tool
	Deborah Brester

Requestor Location

	United States
	Attn: Deborah Brester
Publisher Tax ID	98-0397604
Total	0.00 USD
Terms and Conditions	

INTRODUCTION

1. The publisher for this copyrighted material is Elsevier. By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the Billing and Payment terms and conditions established by Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. ("CCC"), at the time that you opened your Rightslink account and that are available at any time at http://myaccount.copyright.com).

GENERAL TERMS

2. Elsevier hereby grants you permission to reproduce the aforementioned material subject to the terms and conditions indicated.

3. Acknowledgement: If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgement to another source, permission must also be sought from that source. If such permission is not obtained then that material may not be included in your publication/copies. Suitable acknowledgement to the source must be made, either

as a footnote or in a reference list at the end of your publication, as follows:

"Reprinted from Publication title, Vol /edition number, Author(s), Title of article / title of chapter, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier [OR APPLICABLE SOCIETY COPYRIGHT OWNER]." Also Lancet special credit - "Reprinted from The Lancet, Vol. number, Author(s), Title of article, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier."

4. Reproduction of this material is confined to the purpose and/or media for which permission is hereby given.

5. Altering/Modifying Material: Not Permitted. However figures and illustrations may be altered/adapted minimally to serve your work. Any other abbreviations, additions, deletions and/or any other alterations shall be made only with prior written authorization of Elsevier Ltd. (Please contact Elsevier's permissions helpdesk <u>here</u>). No modifications can be made to any Lancet figures/tables and they must be reproduced in full.

6. If the permission fee for the requested use of our material is waived in this instance, please be advised that your future requests for Elsevier materials may attract a fee.

7. Reservation of Rights: Publisher reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

8. License Contingent Upon Payment: While you may exercise the rights licensed immediately upon issuance of the license at the end of the licensing process for the transaction, provided that you have disclosed complete and accurate details of your proposed use, no license is finally effective unless and until full payment is received from you (either by publisher or by CCC) as provided in CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. If full payment is not received on a timely basis, then any license preliminarily granted shall be deemed automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Further, in the event that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement and publisher reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.

9. Warranties: Publisher makes no representations or warranties with respect to the licensed material.

10. Indemnity: You hereby indemnify and agree to hold harmless publisher and CCC, and their respective officers, directors, employees and agents, from and against any and all claims arising out of your use of the licensed material other than as specifically authorized pursuant to this license.

11. No Transfer of License: This license is personal to you and may not be sublicensed, assigned, or transferred by you to any other person without publisher's written permission.

12. No Amendment Except in Writing: This license may not be amended except in a writing signed by both parties (or, in the case of publisher, by CCC on publisher's behalf).

13. Objection to Contrary Terms: Publisher hereby objects to any terms contained in any purchase order, acknowledgment, check endorsement or other writing prepared by you, which terms are inconsistent with these terms and conditions or CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. These terms and conditions, together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein), comprise the entire agreement between you and publisher (and CCC) concerning this licensing transaction. In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, these terms and conditions.

14. Revocation: Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center may deny the permissions described in this License at their sole discretion, for any reason or no reason, with a full refund payable to you. Notice of such denial will be made using the contact information provided by you. Failure to receive such notice will not alter or invalidate the denial. In no event will Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center be responsible or liable for any costs, expenses or damage incurred by you as a result of a denial of your permission request, other than a refund of the amount(s) paid by you to Elsevier and/or Copyright Clearance

Center for denied permissions.

LIMITED LICENSE

The following terms and conditions apply only to specific license types:

15. **Translation**: This permission is granted for non-exclusive world <u>English</u> rights only unless your license was granted for translation rights. If you licensed translation rights you may only translate this content into the languages you requested. A professional translator must perform all translations and reproduce the content word for word preserving the integrity of the article.

16. **Posting licensed content on any Website**: The following terms and conditions apply as follows: Licensing material from an Elsevier journal: All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image; A hyper-text must be included to the Homepage of the journal from which you are licensing at

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxxx or the Elsevier homepage for books at http://www.elsevier.com; Central Storage: This license does not include permission for a scanned version of the material to be stored in a central repository such as that provided by Heron/XanEdu.

Licensing material from an Elsevier book: A hyper-text link must be included to the Elsevier homepage at <u>http://www.elsevier.com</u>. All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image.

Posting licensed content on Electronic reserve: In addition to the above the following clauses are applicable: The web site must be password-protected and made available only to bona fide students registered on a relevant course. This permission is granted for 1 year only. You may obtain a new license for future website posting.

17. **For journal authors:** the following clauses are applicable in addition to the above:

Preprints:

A preprint is an author's own write-up of research results and analysis, it has not

been peer-reviewed, nor has it had any other value added to it by a publisher (such as formatting, copyright, technical enhancement etc.).

Authors can share their preprints anywhere at any time. Preprints should not be added to or enhanced in any way in order to appear more like, or to substitute for, the final versions of articles however authors can update their preprints on arXiv or RePEc with their Accepted Author Manuscript (see below).

If accepted for publication, we encourage authors to link from the preprint to their formal publication via its DOI. Millions of researchers have access to the formal publications on ScienceDirect, and so links will help users to find, access, cite and use the best available version. Please note that Cell Press, The Lancet and some society-owned have different preprint policies. Information on these policies is available on the journal homepage.

Accepted Author Manuscripts: An accepted author manuscript is the manuscript of an article that has been accepted for publication and which typically includes author-incorporated changes suggested during submission, peer review and editor-author communications.

Authors can share their accepted author manuscript:

- immediately
 - via their non-commercial person homepage or blog
 - by updating a preprint in arXiv or RePEc with the accepted manuscript
 - via their research institute or institutional repository for internal institutional uses or as part of an invitation-only research collaboration work-group
 - directly by providing copies to their students or to research collaborators for their personal use
 - for private scholarly sharing as part of an invitation-only work group on commercial sites with which Elsevier has an agreement
- After the embargo period
 - via non-commercial hosting platforms such as their institutional repository
 - \circ via commercial sites with which Elsevier has an agreement

In all cases accepted manuscripts should:

- link to the formal publication via its DOI
- bear a CC-BY-NC-ND license this is easy to do
- if aggregated with other manuscripts, for example in a repository or other site, be shared in alignment with our hosting policy not be added to or enhanced in any way to appear more like, or to substitute for, the published journal article.

Published journal article (JPA): A published journal article (PJA) is the definitive final record of published research that appears or will appear in the journal and embodies all value-adding publishing activities including peer review co-ordination, copy-editing, formatting, (if relevant) pagination and online enrichment.

Policies for sharing publishing journal articles differ for subscription and gold open access articles:

<u>Subscription Articles:</u> If you are an author, please share a link to your article rather than the full-text. Millions of researchers have access to the formal publications on ScienceDirect, and so links will help your users to find, access, cite, and use the best available version.

Theses and dissertations which contain embedded PJAs as part of the formal submission can be posted publicly by the awarding institution with DOI links back to the formal publications on ScienceDirect.

If you are affiliated with a library that subscribes to ScienceDirect you have additional private sharing rights for others' research accessed under that agreement. This includes use for classroom teaching and internal training at the institution (including use in course packs and courseware programs), and inclusion of the article for grant funding purposes.

<u>Gold Open Access Articles:</u> May be shared according to the author-selected end-user license and should contain a <u>CrossMark logo</u>, the end user license, and a DOI link to the formal publication on ScienceDirect.

Please refer to Elsevier's posting policy for further information.

18. For book authors the following clauses are applicable in addition to the

above: Authors are permitted to place a brief summary of their work online only. You are not allowed to download and post the published electronic version of your chapter, nor may you scan the printed edition to create an electronic version. **Posting to a repository:** Authors are permitted to post a summary of their chapter only in their institution's repository.

19. **Thesis/Dissertation**: If your license is for use in a thesis/dissertation your thesis may be submitted to your institution in either print or electronic form. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission. These requirements include permission for the Library and Archives of Canada to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis and include permission for Proquest/UMI to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission. Theses and dissertations which contain embedded PJAs as part of the formal submission can be posted publicly by the awarding institution with DOI links back to the formal publications on ScienceDirect.

Elsevier Open Access Terms and Conditions

You can publish open access with Elsevier in hundreds of open access journals or in nearly 2000 established subscription journals that support open access publishing. Permitted third party re-use of these open access articles is defined by the author's choice of Creative Commons user license. See our <u>open access</u> <u>license policy</u> for more information.

Terms & Conditions applicable to all Open Access articles published with Elsevier:

Any reuse of the article must not represent the author as endorsing the adaptation of the article nor should the article be modified in such a way as to damage the author's honour or reputation. If any changes have been made, such changes must be clearly indicated.

The author(s) must be appropriately credited and we ask that you include the end user license and a DOI link to the formal publication on ScienceDirect.

If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgement to another source it is the

responsibility of the user to ensure their reuse complies with the terms and conditions determined by the rights holder.

Additional Terms & Conditions applicable to each Creative Commons user license:

CC BY: The CC-BY license allows users to copy, to create extracts, abstracts and new works from the Article, to alter and revise the Article and to make commercial use of the Article (including reuse and/or resale of the Article by commercial entities), provided the user gives appropriate credit (with a link to the formal publication through the relevant DOI), provides a link to the license, indicates if changes were made and the licensor is not represented as endorsing the use made of the work. The full details of the license are available at http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0.

CC BY NC SA: The CC BY-NC-SA license allows users to copy, to create extracts, abstracts and new works from the Article, to alter and revise the Article, provided this is not done for commercial purposes, and that the user gives appropriate credit (with a link to the formal publication through the relevant DOI), provides a link to the license, indicates if changes were made and the licensor is not represented as endorsing the use made of the work. Further, any new works must be made available on the same conditions. The full details of the license are available at <u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0</u>.

CC BY NC ND: The CC BY-NC-ND license allows users to copy and distribute the Article, provided this is not done for commercial purposes and further does not permit distribution of the Article if it is changed or edited in any way, and provided the user gives appropriate credit (with a link to the formal publication through the relevant DOI), provides a link to the license, and that the licensor is not represented as endorsing the use made of the work. The full details of the license are available at <u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0</u>. Any commercial reuse of Open Access articles published with a CC BY NC SA or CC BY NC ND license requires permission from Elsevier and will be subject to a fee.

Commercial reuse includes:

- Associating advertising with the full text of the Article
- Charging fees for document delivery or access

- Article aggregation
- Systematic distribution via e-mail lists or share buttons

Posting or linking by commercial companies for use by customers of those companies.

20. Other Conditions:

v1.10

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

Appendix F: CTD Permission

WOLTERS KLUWER HEALTH, INC. LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS Oct 10, 2021

This Agreement between Deborah Brester ("You") and Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. ("Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc.") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	5154530716883
License date	Sep 22, 2021
Licensed Content Publisher	Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc.
Licensed Content Publication	Journal of Nursing Administration for Individuals
Licensed Content Title	Assessing Individual Frontline Nurse Critical Thinking
Licensed Content Author	Steven Berkow, Katherine Virkstis, Jennifer Stewart, et al
Licensed Content Date	Apr 1, 2011
Licensed Content Volume	41
Licensed Content Issue	4
Type of Use	Dissertation/Thesis
Requestor type	University/College
Sponsorship	No Sponsorship
Format	Print and electronic
Will this be posted online?	Yes, on a secure website
Portion	Figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
Author of this Wolters Kluwer article	No
Will you be translating?	No

Intend to modify/change the content	No
Title	Facilitation of Student Nurse Learning through Simulation Debriefing
Institution name	Walden University
Expected presentation date	Feb 2022
Portions	Table 1Nursing Executive Center's 25 Core Critical-Thinking CompetenciesCritical Thinking Diagnostic
	Deborah Brester
Requestor Location	
	United States Attn: Deborah Brester
Publisher Tax ID	13-2932696
Total	0.00 USD
Terms and Conditions	

Wolters Kluwer Health Inc. Terms and Conditions

- 1. **Duration of License:** Permission is granted for a one time use only. Rights herein do not apply to future reproductions, editions, revisions, or other derivative works. This permission shall be effective as of the date of execution by the parties for the maximum period of 12 months and should be renewed after the term expires.
 - i. When content is to be republished in a book or journal the validity of this agreement should be the life of the book edition or journal issue.
 - ii. When content is licensed for use on a website, internet, intranet, or any publicly accessible site (not including a journal or book), you agree to remove the material from such site after 12 months, or request to renew your permission license
- 2. <u>Credit Line:</u> A credit line must be prominently placed and include: For book content: the author(s), title of book, edition, copyright holder, year of

publication; For journal content: the author(s), titles of article, title of journal, volume number, issue number, inclusive pages and website URL to the journal page; If a journal is published by a learned society the credit line must include the details of that society.

- 3. <u>Warranties:</u> The requestor warrants that the material shall not be used in any manner which may be considered derogatory to the title, content, authors of the material, or to Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc.
- 4. <u>Indemnity:</u> You hereby indemnify and hold harmless Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. and its respective officers, directors, employees and agents, from and against any and all claims, costs, proceeding or demands arising out of your unauthorized use of the Licensed Material
- 5. <u>Geographical Scope:</u> Permission granted is non-exclusive and is valid throughout the world in the English language and the languages specified in the license.
- 6. <u>**Copy of Content:**</u> Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. cannot supply the requestor with the original artwork, high-resolution images, electronic files or a clean copy of content.
- 7. <u>Validity:</u> Permission is valid if the borrowed material is original to a Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. imprint (J.B Lippincott, Lippincott-Raven Publishers, Williams & Wilkins, Lea & Febiger, Harwal, Rapid Science, Little Brown & Company, Harper & Row Medical, American Journal of Nursing Co, and Urban & Schwarzenberg - English Language, Raven Press, Paul Hoeber, Springhouse, Ovid), and the Anatomical Chart Company
- 8. <u>Third Party Material:</u> This permission does not apply to content that is credited to publications other than Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. or its Societies. For images credited to non-Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. books or journals, you must obtain permission from the source referenced in the figure or table legend or credit line before making any use of the image(s), table(s) or other content.
- 9. <u>Adaptations:</u> Adaptations are protected by copyright. For images that have been adapted, permission must be sought from the rightsholder of the original material and the rightsholder of the adapted material.
- 10. <u>Modifications:</u> Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. material is not permitted to be modified or adapted without written approval from Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. with the exception of text size or color. The adaptation should be credited as follows: Adapted with permission from Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc.: [the author(s), title of book, edition, copyright holder, year of publication] or [the author(s), titles of article, title of journal, volume

number, issue number, inclusive pages and website URL to the journal page].

- 11. **Full Text Articles:** Republication of full articles in English is prohibited.
- 12. <u>Branding and Marketing:</u> No drug name, trade name, drug logo, or trade logo can be included on the same page as material borrowed from *Diseases of the Colon & Rectum, Plastic Reconstructive Surgery, Obstetrics & Gynecology (The Green Journal), Critical Care Medicine, Pediatric Critical Care Medicine, the American Heart Association publications and the American Academy of Neurology publications.*
- 13. Open Access: Unless you are publishing content under the same Creative Commons license, the following statement must be added when reprinting material in Open Access journals: "The Creative Commons license does not apply to this content. Use of the material in any format is prohibited without written permission from the publisher, Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. Please contact permissions@lww.com for further information."
- 14. **Translations:** The following disclaimer must appear on all translated copies: Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. and its Societies take no responsibility for the accuracy of the translation from the published English original and are not liable for any errors which may occur.
- 15. <u>Published Ahead of Print (PAP)</u>: Articles in the PAP stage of publication can be cited using the online publication date and the unique DOI number.
 - i. Disclaimer: Articles appearing in the PAP section have been peerreviewed and accepted for publication in the relevant journal and posted online before print publication. Articles appearing as PAP may contain statements, opinions, and information that have errors in facts, figures, or interpretation. Any final changes in manuscripts will be made at the time of print publication and will be reflected in the final electronic version of the issue. Accordingly, Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc., the editors, authors and their respective employees are not responsible or liable for the use of any such inaccurate or misleading data, opinion or information contained in the articles in this section.
- 16. <u>Termination of Contract:</u> Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. must be notified within 90 days of the original license date if you opt not to use the requested material.
- 17. <u>Waived Permission Fee:</u> Permission fees that have been waived are not subject to future waivers, including similar requests or renewing a license.
- 18. Contingent on payment: You may exercise these rights licensed

immediately upon issuance of the license, however until full payment is received either by the publisher or our authorized vendor, this license is not valid. If full payment is not received on a timely basis, then any license preliminarily granted shall be deemed automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Further, in the event that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc.'s other billing and payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement and publisher reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.

- 19. <u>STM Signatories Only:</u> Any permission granted for a particular edition will apply to subsequent editions and for editions in other languages, provided such editions are for the work as a whole in situ and do not involve the separate exploitation of the permitted illustrations or excerpts. Please view: <u>STM Permissions Guidelines</u>
- 20. <u>Warranties and Obligations:</u> LICENSOR further represents and warrants that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, LICENSEE's contemplated use of the Content as represented to LICENSOR does not infringe any valid rights to any third party.
- 21. **Breach:** If LICENSEE fails to comply with any provisions of this agreement, LICENSOR may serve written notice of breach of LICENSEE and, unless such breach is fully cured within fifteen (15) days from the receipt of notice by LICENSEE, LICENSOR may thereupon, at its option, serve notice of cancellation on LICENSEE, whereupon this Agreement shall immediately terminate.
- 22. <u>Assignment:</u> License conveyed hereunder by the LICENSOR shall not be assigned or granted in any manner conveyed to any third party by the LICENSEE without the consent in writing to the LICENSOR.
- 23. Governing Law: The laws of The State of New York shall govern interpretation of this Agreement and all rights and liabilities arising hereunder.
- 24. **Unlawful:** If any provision of this Agreement shall be found unlawful or otherwise legally unenforceable, all other conditions and provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

For Copyright Clearance Center / RightsLink Only:

- 1. <u>Service Description for Content Services:</u> Subject to these terms of use, any terms set forth on the particular order, and payment of the applicable fee, you may make the following uses of the ordered materials:
 - i. <u>Content Rental:</u> You may access and view a single electronic copy of the materials ordered for the time period designated at the time the order is placed. Access to the materials will be provided through a dedicated content viewer or other portal, and access will be discontinued upon expiration of the designated time period. An order for Content Rental does not include any rights to print, download, save, create additional copies, to distribute or to reuse in any way the full text or parts of the materials.
 - ii. <u>Content Purchase:</u> You may access and download a single electronic copy of the materials ordered. Copies will be provided by email or by such other means as publisher may make available from time to time. An order for Content Purchase does not include any rights to create additional copies or to distribute copies of the materials

Other Terms and Conditions:

v1.18

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

Appendix G: NCSBN Clinical Judgment Measurement Model Script Cue Recognition:

What is relevant/irrelevant information in the medical history?

What is relevant/irrelevant information in the medical record?

What is relevant/irrelevant information from the assessment(s) and vital signs?

What information from the medical history, medical record, assessment(s), and

vital signs are the most significant?

Analyze Cues:

What in the medical history, medical record, assessment(s), and/or vital signs are normal?

What in the medical history, medical record, assessment(s), and/or vital signs are abnormal?

What in the medical history, medical record, assessment(s), and/or vital signs are significant to the clinical situation?

Prioritize Hypotheses:

What is most likely occurring?

What in the patient's presentation and history is most significant or serious in order of priority.

Generate Solutions:

What are the indicated/contraindicated treatments/interventions that will foster an improved or stable outcome for this clinical situation?

Take Action:

What intervention or combination of interventions is most appropriate for this clinical situation?

What intervention or interventions are needed immediately?

How should the intervention or interventions be implemented, performed,

requested, administered, communicated, taught, and/or documented?

What intervention or interventions can be delegated and to who?

Evaluate Outcomes:

Has the clinical situation improved, declined, or remained unchanged?

What observations/findings would indicate that the intervention(s) was effective,

ineffective, or progressing as expected?

Is there any other intervention(s) that may have been more effective?
Appendix H: Critical Thinking Diagnostic

25 Core Critical-Thinking Competencies*

Clinical decision making

(1) Effectively explores multiple solutions to a given problem

- (2) Consistently demonstrates understanding of rationale for following (or departing from) established protocols and policies
- (3) Consistently demonstrates understanding of potential clinical implications of interventions

(4) Proactively asks peers and experts for assistance when needed

Prioritization

(1) Appropriately prioritizes the most urgent patients

(2) Appropriately sequences care for an individual patient

(3) Appropriately sequences indirect care responsibilities across the shift

(4) Appropriately delegates responsibilities

(5) Consistently demonstrates accountability for delegated responsibilities

Clinical implementation

(1) Consistently develops plan of care that reflects current evidence-based practices and protocols

(2) Consistently develops plan of care that reflects patient, family, and community needs

(3) Effectively implements nursing interventions included in plan of care

(5) Clearly communicates plan of care to other care team members Reflection

(1) Appropriately applies knowledge of past experiences to present situations

(2) Consistently reevaluates assumptions to draw conclusions based on nursing evidence

(3) Proactively initiates professional dialogue around nursing practice

(4) Proactively debriefs following errors or near-misses

(5) Appropriately adjusts own practice based on others' feedback

*Assessment scale: strongly disagree = 1; disagree = 2; tend to disagree = 3; tend to agree = 4; agree = 5; strongly agree = 6.

Problem recognition

⁽¹⁾ Accurately anticipates changes in patient status

⁽²⁾ Accurately recognizes changes in patient status

⁽³⁾ Consistently recognizes unsafe practices by self and others

⁽⁴⁾ Proactively voices concerns about unsafe practices by self and others

⁽⁵⁾ Proactively identifies unit- or hospital-based improvement opportunities

⁽⁵⁾ Proactively consults further resources (eg, literature, evidence-based tools, etc) to improve patient care

⁽⁴⁾ Proactively adjusts plan of care according to patient needs, preferences, and cultural considerations

Effective NOTICING involves:	Exemplary	Accomplished	Developing	Beginning
Focused Observation	Focuses observation appropriately; regularly observes and monitors a wide variety of objective and subjective data to uncover any useful information	Regularly observes/monito rs a variety of data, including both subjective and objective; most useful information is noticed, may miss the most subtle signs	Attempts to monitor a variety of subjective and objective data, but is overwhelmed by the array of data; focuses on the most obvious data, missing some important information	Confused by the clinical situation and the amount/type of data; observation is not organized and important data is missed, and/or assessment errors are made
Recognizing Deviations from Expected Patterns	Recognizes subtle patterns and deviations from expected patterns in data and uses these to guide the assessment	Recognizes most obvious patterns and deviations in data and uses these to continually assess	Identifies obvious patterns and deviations, missing some important information; unsure how to continue the assessment	Focuses on one thing at a time and misses most patterns/deviatio ns from expectations; misses opportunities to refine the assessment
Information Seeking	Assertively seeks information to plan intervention: carefully collects useful subjective data from observing the client and from interacting with the client and family	Actively seeks subjective information about the client's situation from the client and family to support planning interventions; occasionally does not pursue important leads	Makes limited efforts to seek additional information from the client/family; often seems not to know what information to seek and/or pursues unrelated Information	Is ineffective in seeking information; relies mostly on objective data; has difficulty interacting with the client and family and fails to collect important subjective data

Appendix I: Lasater's Clinical Judgment Rubric

Effective INTERPRETING involves:	Exemplary	Accomplished	Developing	Beginning
Prioritizing Data	Focuses on the most relevant and important data useful for explaining the client's condition	Generally focuses on the most important data and seeks further relevant information, but also may try to attend to less pertinent data	Makes an effort to prioritize data and focus on the most important, but also attends to less relevant/useful data	Has difficulty focusing and appears not to know which data are most important to the diagnosis; attempts to attend to all available data
Making Sense of Data	Even when facing complex, conflicting or confusing data, is able to (1) note and make sense of patterns in the client's data, (2) compare these with known patterns (from the nursing knowledge base, research, personal experience, and intuition), and (3) develop plans for interventions that can be justified in terms of their likelihood of success	In most situations, interprets the client's data patterns and compares with known patterns to develop an intervention plan and accompanying rationale; the exceptions are rare or complicated cases where it is appropriate to seek the guidance of a specialist or more experienced nurse	In simple or common/familiar situations, is able to compare the client's data patterns with those known and to develop/explain intervention plans; has difficulty, however, with even moderately difficult data/situations that are within the expectations for students, inappropriately requires advice or assistance	Even in simple of familiar/common situations has difficulty interpreting or making sense of data; has trouble distinguishing among competing explanations and appropriate interventions, requiring assistance both in diagnosing the problem and in developing an intervention

				135
Effective RESPONDING involves:	Exemplary	Accomplished	Developing	Beginning
Calm, Confident Manner	Assumes responsibility: delegates team assignments, assess the client and reassures them and their families	Generally displays leadership and confidence, and is able to control/calm most situations; may show stress in particularly difficult or complex situations	Is tentative in the leader's role; reassures clients/families in routine and relatively simple situations, but becomes stressed and disorganized easily	Except in simple and routine situations, is stressed and disorganized, lacks control, making clients and families anxious/less able to cooperate
Clear Communication	Communicates effectively; explains interventions; calms/reassures clients and families; directs and involves team members, explaining and giving directions; checks for understanding	Generally communicates well; explains carefully to clients, gives clear directions to team; could be more effective in establishing rapport	Shows some communication ability (e.g., giving directions); communication with clients/families/te am members is only partly successful; displays caring but not competence	Has difficulty communicating; explanations are confusing, directions are unclear or contradictory, and clients/families are made confused/anxious, not reassured
Well-Planned Intervention/ Flexibility	Interventions are tailored for the individual client; monitors client progress closely and is able to adjust treatment as indicated by the client response	Develops interventions based on relevant patient data; monitors progress regularly but does not expect to have to change treatments	Develops interventions based on the most obvious data; monitors progress, but is unable to make adjustments based on the patient response	Focuses on developing a single intervention addressing a likely solution, but it may be vague, confusing, and/or incomplete; some monitoring may
Being Skillful	Shows mastery of necessary nursing skills	Displays proficiency in the use of most nursing skills; could improve speed or accuracy	Is hesitant or ineffective in utilizing nursing skills	Is unable to select and/or perform the nursing skills

				136
Effective REFLECTING involves:	Exemplary	Accomplished	Developing	Beginning
Evaluation/Self -Analysis	Independently evaluates/ analyzes personal clinical performance, noting decision points, elaborating alternatives and accurately evaluating choices against alternatives	Evaluates/analyz es personal clinical performance with minimal prompting, primarily major events/decisions; key decision points are identified and alternatives are considered	Even when prompted, briefly verbalizes the most obvious evaluations; has difficulty imagining alternative choices; is self- protective in evaluating personal choices	Even prompted evaluations are brief, cursory, and not used to improve performance; justifies personal decisions/choices without evaluating them
Commitment to Improvement	Demonstrates commitment to ongoing improvement: reflects on and critically evaluates nursing experiences; accurately identifies strengths/ weaknesses and develops specific plans to eliminate weaknesses	Demonstrates a desire to improve nursing performance: reflects on and evaluates experiences; identifies strengths/ weaknesses; could be more systematic in evaluating weaknesses	Demonstrates awareness of the need for ongoing improvement and makes some effort to learn from experience and improve performance but tends to state the obvious, and needs external evaluation	Appears uninterested in improving performance or unable to do so; rarely reflects; is uncritical of him/herself, or overly critical (given level of development); is unable to see flaws or need for improvement

Appendix J: Clinical Reasoning Evaluation Simulation Tool

The CREST is designed specifically to evaluate the clinical reasoning skills of a nurse or a nursing student in recognizing and responding to clinical deterioration in a simulated environment.

There are 10 items, scored with a five-point Likert rating scale, that are grouped into 8 subscales. These are either rated based on questioning (items 1, 4, 5, 6, & 10) to elicit verbal responses or observations of a simulation performance (items 2, 3, 7, 8, & 9). A final global item, scored with a 10-point Likert rating scale, allows rating of the nurse/nursing student's performance as a whole.

The following steps are recommended:

1. Reading time. The individual should be given some time (e.g. 5 minutes) to read the case notes of the simulated scenario.

2. Questioning. The assessor rates item 1 through face-to-face questioning.

3. Simulation performance. The assessor rates items 2, 3, 7, 8, & 9 by observing the individual's simulation performance and use of the 'think aloud' strategy.

4. Questioning. The assessor rates items 4, 5, 6, & 10 through face-to-face questioning.

Domain/Item	Questioning	1	2 3		4	5	Score
	(Q)/						
	Observation(O)						
Considering pati	ent situation						
1)	Q : How have	Unable to	Limited	Interprets case	Interprets case	Interprets case	
Interpretation	you interpreted	interpret	attempt to	information to	information to	information	
of patient's	the given	relevant case	interpret	reveal some	reveal most	thoroughly to	
current	information?	information	relevant case	important	important	reveal all	
situation from			information	patterns or	patterns or	important	
case				deviations	deviations	patterns or	
information						subtle	
						deviations	
Collecting cues	I	I	I		L	I	
2) Performs	O : Observe	Unable to	Collects a	Collects	Collects	Collects	
physical	performance of	collect	limited	important cues	important cues	important cues	
assessment to	physical	important	number of	relevant to the	relevant to the	relevant to the	
gather cues	assessment	cues relevant	cues relevant	case with	case using a	case using a	
		to the case	to the case	limited use of a	systematic	thorough	
				systematic	approach	systematic	
				approach		approach	
Processing infor	mation			I	L	I	
3) Recognizes	O : Observe	Unable to	Limited	Recognizes	Recognizes	Recognizes all	
and interprets	through "think	recognize	ability to	patient	patient	patient	
patient	aloud" on the	obvious	recognize	abnormalities	abnormalities	abnormalities	
abnormalities	recognition and	abnormalities	abnormalities	with limited	with some	with clear	
	interpretation						

	of			interpretation	interpretation	interpretation					
	abnormalities										
4) Clusters	Q : How do you	Unable to	Limited	Clusters main	Clusters main	Able to cluster					
cues together	link the signs	make	ability to	cues together	cues together	main cues					
to identify	and symptoms	connections	make	with limited	with sound	together with					
relationships	of the patient	between cues	connections	reasoning	reasoning	thorough					
among them	together?		between cues			reasoning					
Identifying problem/ issue											
5) Identifies	Q : What do	Unable to	Limited	Identifies	Identifies	Identifies					
appropriate	you think had	identify	ability to	appropriate	appropriate	appropriate					
problem(s)	happened to	appropriate	identify	problems with	problems with	problems with					
with reasoning	the patient?	problems	appropriate	limited	sound	thorough					
			problems	reasoning	reasoning	rosconing					
						reasoning					
Establishing goa	ls										
6) States	Q : What did	Unable to	Identifies	Identifies	Identifies	Identifies					
desired	you aim to do	identify	limited	desired	desired	desired					
patient	for the patient	desired	desired	outcomes with	outcomes with	outcomes with					
outcomes	and why?	outcomes	outcomes	limited	sound	thorough					
				reasoning	reasoning	reasoning					
Domain/ Item	Questioning	1	2	3	4	5					
	(Q)/										
	Observation(O)										
Taking actions	I										
7) Performs	O : Observe	Unable to	Performs	Performs	Performs	Performs					

		-			_		
action(s) to	actions taken to	perform	limited	appropriate	appropriate	appropriate	
achieve	manage	appropriate	appropriate	actions with	actions with	actions with	
desired	situation	actions	actions	limited	effectiveness	optimal	
outcomes				effectiveness		effectiveness	
						and efficiency	
				a	.		
8)	O : Observe	Unable to	Limited	Communicates	Communicates	Communicates	
Communicates	communication	communicate	ability to	main issues	main issues	main issues	
effectively to	skills via phone	main issues	communicate	with limited	clearly and	clearly and	
escalate for	call		main issue	use of ISBAR	concisely using	concisely using	
help					ISBAR	ISBAR and with	
						a sense of	
						urgency	
E al alfan a la							
Evaluating outco	omes						
9) Evaluates	O : Observe	Unable to	Limited	Evaluates the	Evaluates the	Evaluates the	
effectiveness	actions taken to	evaluate	evaluation of	effectiveness	effectiveness	effectiveness	
of action	evaluate	action	action	of action with	of action with	of action with	
outcomes	outcome and	outcomes	outcomes	limited ability	some ability to	clear ability to	
	adjust			to adjust	adjust action	adjust action	
	interventions			action plans	plans	plans	
		•					
Reflecting on pr	ocess and new lea	rning					
10) Performs	Q : What do	Unable to	Limited	Reflects on	Reflects on	Reflect on	
effective	you think were	reflect on	reflection on	strengths and	strengths and	strengths and	
reflection for	your strengths	strengths and	strengths and	weaknesses	weaknesses	weaknesses	
ongoing	and	weaknesses	weaknesses	with limited	with some	with clear	
improvement	weaknesses ?			ability to	ability to	ability to	
	Where do you			identify plans	identify plans	identify plans	

	think you could					fo	or		for		for	
	have done					in	nprovem	nent	impro	vement	improvement	
	better?											
11) Overall												
On a scale of 1-1	0, rate the particip	oants' o	verall cli	inical	reasoning	skil	I					
	1	2	3	4	56	5	7	8	9	10		
	Unsatisfact	ory							0	utstanding	5	
Total score:												

Appendix K: Stroke Simulation Script

Cue Recognition:

What is relevant/irrelevant information in the medical history?

Relevant: Age; Hypertension; History of Atrial Fibrillation (under control currently with Betalol); Hyperlipidemia; Recent cholecystectomy (postop day #2)

Irrelevant: Surgical history (Appendectomy 1962; Hysterectomy, 1980); Osteoporosis

What is relevant/irrelevant information in the medical record?

Same answer as #1.

What is relevant/irrelevant information from the assessment(s) and vital signs?

Relevant: New onset of stroke symptoms; ECG rhythm analysis (client develops recurrence of atrial fibrillation); heart rate trends up; respiratory rate trends up; blood pressure and MAP remains elevated; pulse oximetry trends down to 92%

Irrelevant: Vital signs which are normal (Temp); Chemistry profile results; Complete Blood Count results

What information from the medical history, medical record, assessment(s), and vital signs are the most significant?

New onset of stroke symptoms; Reoccurrence of Atrial fibrillation; Blood pressure /Pulse/ Respiratory rates trending up; Oxygenation saturation levels trending down

Analyze Cues:

What in the medical history, medical record, assessment(s), and/or vital signs are normal? Vital signs which are normal (Temp); Chemistry profile and Complete Blood Count results

What in the medical history, medical record, assessment(s), and/or vital signs are abnormal?

New onset of stroke symptoms (expressive aphasia; decreased motor function and muscle strength on right side arms and legs); Reoccurrence of Atrial fibrillation; Blood pressure /Pulse/ Respiratory rates trending up; Oxygenation saturation levels trending down;

What in the medical history, medical record, assessment(s), and/or vital signs are significant to the clinical situation?

History of Atrial Fibrillation (under control currently with Betalol); Hypertension; Hyperlipidemia; Recent cholecystectomy (postop day #2) (stressor to body which sets off a recurrence of Atrial Fibrillation)

Prioritize Hypotheses:

What is most likely occurring?

Stroke secondary to new onset of Atrial Fibrillation

What in the patient's presentation and history is most significant or serious in order of priority?

- Altered Neurological Function: New onset of stroke symptoms (expressive aphasia; decreased motor function and muscle strength on right side arms and legs);
- Increased O2 demand secondary to atrial fibrillation recurrence, elevated BP, tachycardia, tachypnea

Generate Solutions:

What are the indicated/contraindicated treatments/interventions that will foster an improved or stable outcome for this clinical situation?

Indicated: a. Rapid Response for Early Onset Stroke; Vital Signs; NIH Stroke Scale baseline; Elevate head of bed; initiate oxygen therapy at 1-2 liters per nasal cannula and monitor oxygen saturation levels; Continuous ECG monitoring; Inform patient of all findings, providing reassurance / education; Remain with patient at all times (provide for all safety measures)

b. Report all findings in "a" to HCP and initiate further orders

c. Prepare patient for CT scan and inform patient.

Contraindicated / Not necessary: All other basic care measures

Take Action:

What intervention or combination of interventions is most appropriate for this clinical situation?

Indicated: a. Rapid Response for Early Onset Stroke; Vital Signs; NIH Stroke Scale baseline; Elevate head of bed; initiate oxygen therapy at 1-2 liters per nasal cannula and monitor oxygen saturation levels; Continuous ECG monitoring; Inform patient of all findings, providing reassurance / education; Remain with patient at all times (provide for all safety measures)

- b. Report all findings in "a" to HCP and initiate further orders
- c. Prepare patient for CT scan and inform patient.

What intervention or interventions are needed immediately?

NIH Stroke Scale (Bedside Nurse and Charge Nurse) and Oxygenation interventions (RT); update provider of findings when provider arrives

How should the intervention or interventions be implemented, performed, requested, administered, communicated, taught, and/or documented?

Bedside nurse and Charge Nurse initiate and perform NIH Stroke Scale and ID atrial fibrillation; RT initiates oxygen therapy and monitors pulse oximetry readings; provider orders CT scan

What intervention or interventions can be delegated and to who?

Oxygenation interventions handled by RT

Evaluate Outcomes:

Has the clinical situation improved, declined, or remained unchanged?

Oxygenation status will improve slightly; Stroke symptoms will not improve and patient is sent down for emergent CT scan.

What observations/findings would indicate that the intervention(s) was effective,

ineffective, or progressing as expected?

Pulse oximetry levels rise from 92% to 94% if oxygen therapy is applied at 1-2 liters per minute per nasal cannula.

Stroke symptoms do not resolve.

Atrial fibrillation does not resolve.

Is there any other intervention(s) that may have been more effective?

No delay in NIH Stroke assessment and no delay oxygenation management

Appendix L: Heart Failure Script

Cue Recognition:

What is relevant/irrelevant information in the medical history?

Age, male, hx of HTN, CAD, DM II, obesity

What is relevant/irrelevant information in the medical record?

Exertional dyspnea, increased edema,

What is relevant/irrelevant information from the assessment(s) and vital signs?

EKG rhythm analysis, elevated HR, elevated BP, O2 requirements, exertional dyspnea, lung

sounds, heart sounds, POC glucose reading

What information from the medical history, medical record, assessment(s), and vital signs

are the most significant?

A Fib, hx of HTN, SOB, new edema, requiring supplemental O2, POC glucose level, elevated

BP, lung sounds, heart sounds

Analyze Cues:

What in the medical history, medical record, assessment(s), and/or vital signs are normal?

Respiratory rate, POC glucose, pulses, I/O's

What in the medical history, medical record, assessment(s), and/or vital signs are

abnormal?

BP, HR, EKG rhythm, edema, activity intolerance, heart sounds, lung sounds

What in the medical history, medical record, assessment(s), and/or vital signs are significant to the clinical situation?

BP, HR, EKG rhythm, edema, activity intolerance, heart sounds, lung sounds

Prioritize Hypotheses:

What is most likely occurring?

A Fib RVR with possible new onset HF, uncontrolled BP (possibly not taking home medications as prescribed)

What in the patient's presentation and history is most significant or serious in order of priority.

Increased O2 demand, dyspnea upon exertion, A Fib, peripheral swelling

Generate Solutions:

What are the indicated/contraindicated treatments/interventions that will foster an improved or stable outcome for this clinical situation?

Conversion of abnormal heart rhythm into NSR, remove excess fluid through the use of medications such as Lasix, provide digoxin to assist heart in pumping more efficiently (positive inotrope), continue to provide supplemental oxygen, high fowlers position, and morphine to help with feelings of SOB, TEDs to bilateral lower extremities, monitor I/O's, 2000 mL/day fluid restriction, constant telemetry and POX monitoring

Take Action:

What intervention or combination of interventions is most appropriate for this clinical situation?

Assess patient prior to administration of medications, Administer Lasix, digoxin, and morphine as ordered, hourly I/O's, telemetry/POX, TEDs, supplemental O2, high fowlers, activity as tolerated

What intervention or interventions are needed immediately?

Assessments, O2, telemetry/POX, medication administration, fluid restriction

How should the intervention or interventions be implemented, performed, requested, administered, communicated, taught, and/or documented?

Through the review of MD orders, IVP stat, continuous tele/POX

What intervention or interventions can be delegated and to who?

Tele/POX and TEDs initiation to technician, notify staff (tech/dietary) of fluid restriction;

ambulation to technician

Evaluate Outcomes:

Has the clinical situation improved, declined, or remained unchanged?

The clinical situation will improve after the implementation of the above interventions

What observations/findings would indicate that the intervention(s) was effective,

ineffective, or progressing as expected?

Worsening SOB or swelling would indicate that an intervention was missed; worsening heart rhythm (A Fib to A Flutter or heart block), worsening lung sounds (crackles), increased edema (3+ or 4+), increased O2 requirement (4-6L NC)

Is there any other intervention(s) that may have been more effective?

Not delaying the administration of appropriate medications and continuous monitoring (tele/POX)